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Message from the Board Chair
The past year has seen Mercy International Association involved in many initiatives that have ensured we
continue the work of Catherine McAuley in ways which are creative and appropriate to the needs of the world
for the time being.1
Our work embodies the spirit of the Mercy congregations which came together in 1992 to create the Mercy
International Association we know today. We live the values of our courageous and visionary founders to
facilitate collaboration among Sisters of Mercy, their partners-in-Ministry, and associates worldwide to meet
the needs of today and to encourage and nurture the flourishing of the Mercy charism wherever we serve.
The new MIA Vision Statement, so beautifully expressed in word and image, is centred on Mercy Global
Presence. Through the work of the Association and the longing and efforts of the entire Mercy family we will
strive for the globalisation of compassion and the recognition of God’s Mercy as present and active in our world.2
During the past two years Mercy world’s understanding of Mercy Global Presence, centred on degradation of
Earth and displacement of Persons, has been deepened by many.
Denise Fox rsm
Chair, Board of Mercy International Association

The inaugural Mercy Emerging Leaders Fellowship provides a transformational experience for women who
are passionate about advancing Mercy and Justice. Over the next three years new leaders, formed in Mercy,
will be women of influence in their countries, cultures and workplaces.
Mercy International Centre is our house of welcome and learning. In 1827 and in the years that followed, Sisters
and women would gather with Catherine to learn from one another and plan for the future; and today young
leaders, partners in ministry, associates and volunteers gather at MIC and online to encourage and learn from
one another. Our website and newsletter continue in the firm tradition of Catherine’s letter writing to keep
the Mercy family connected.
Fundraising is very much part of the life of Mercy International, just as it was in Catherine’s day where she
reached out to those around her for support: Since there is very little good can be accomplished or evil avoided
without the aid of money, we must look after it in small as well as in great matters.3

1. Vision Statement Mercy International Association
2. Vision Statement Mercy International Association
3. Catherine McAuley in a Letter to Father James Maher January 10, 183I

6

Mercy International Association is fully committed
to achieving the standards contained within the
‘Statement of Guiding Principles for Fundraising’. I
extend our gratitude to Mercy congregations and to
our many other generous donors for their gifts large
and small to enable the vision to flourish and remain
a reality. Without the generosity of Mercy Health (St
Louis) we would not have access to the much loved
production ‘In God Alone: The Story of Catherine
McAuley’; and from an anonymous donor and a long
time friend of Mercy, the funding for the three year
programme ‘Mercy Emerging Leaders Fellowship’.
The work we do is never easy and managing growth
and change has placed additional pressures on all
our staff. I want to acknowledge and thank them
for their efforts, and particularly acknowledge
the leadership of Sister Mary Reynolds, who has
ensured the growth is underpinned by the vision
of Mercy International Association. I also want to
thank my fellow board directors for their voluntary
commitment to governing the organisation. I
welcome Suzanne Ryder rsm who joined the board
in 2018 and particularly acknowledge Scholasticah
Nganda rsm, Margaret Casey rsm and Mr Kevin Hoy,
who retired from the board during the year.

I take this opportunity to thank our members,
directors, volunteers, donors, associates and
especially staff for your compassion and commitment
over the last year.
I invite the reader to take time to absorb the richness
of the lived charism of Mercy that is outlined in this
report. And this describes just one year in the life
of the association! This is my final report as Chair
of Mercy International, and I want to conclude by
acknowledging all who give so generously to MIA. It
takes all of us to create meaningful change. MIA looks
forward to your continued support under the capable
leadership of my successor, Mr Ron Ashworth, and
together we will create the best possible future for
Mercy International and the people we serve.

Denise Fox rsm
Chair, Board of Mercy International Association
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Message from the CEO
programmes to promote a greater understanding
of environmental responsibility and we continued
to offer programmes that link the themes of Mercy
Heritage and Spirituality with the challenge to work
for the globalisation of compassion in response to
world needs today. We rejoice that young people
from around the world are also attracted to these
programmes and that the numbers of student visits
to the centre continue to grow.

Mary Reynolds rsm
CEO Mercy International Association

2018 proved to be another busy and fruitful year. It
marked the first year of implementation of our new
five-year strategic plan which aims to respond to the
cry of Earth and the cry of the Poor today.
Providing formational experiences for leaders, lay and
religious, who lead and work in the various ministries
that make this response, is core to what MIA does in
its Heritage and Spirituality programme. During 2018
we expanded the number of programmes on offer at
Mercy International Centre and on the web, to cater
for a wider range of lay leaders involved in Mercy
ministries and for increased numbers attending
programmes in the Centre. MIA developed new
8

An outstanding highlight in the Heritage and
Spirituality area in 2018 was the creation of a new
documentary depicting the life of Catherine McAuley.
Designed and produced with the assistance of our
colleagues at Mercy Health (St Louis), it highlights
her extraordinary contribution to the society of
her day, and it enables a new generation of Mercy
women and men to explore and be inspired by the
life and actions of this selfless woman of Mercy.
The Global Action Programme focussed on the two
critical themes of displacement of Persons and
degradation of Earth, with particular emphasis on
migration, trafficking of people, climate change
and water. There were several major highlights: our
involvement in the 24th Conference of the Parties
to the ‘United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change’ (COP24), held in December 2018
in Katowice, Poland, at which MIA presented six key
advocacy points to the government representatives
and also signed the ‘Peoples Demands for Climate

Justice’. We promoted a strong campaign globally
on one-use plastics and lobbied particularly with
the Irish government on this topic. We welcomed the
opportunity to make our contribution to the Global
Compact on Migration, allowing us to engage in
fashioning the first ever global response to migration
and ensuring that the rights of all migrants, especially
the most vulnerable, are respected and protected.
A major piece of work in 2018 was the launch of
‘Inherent Dignity’ – an advocacy programme to
prevent trafficking for sexual exploitation. This
programme was born from extensive research
which exposed how most survivors of human
trafficking experience cumulative disadvantage
and marginalisation caused by multiple breaches in
international human rights law. It focuses on how the
existing international human rights framework can
be applied to the prevention of human trafficking
and how listening to the experiences of formerly
trafficked women is imperative.
In the Communications area the highlight was the
building of a new website. This gives us an improved
way of sharing our Mercy story, of nurturing ‘Mercy
Global Presence’, and of interconnecting the entire
Mercy family. With its multi-faceted capacities,
it enables us to advocate on behalf of displaced
people and to stand with them in our ministries.
It enhances ways of engaging in activities that
promote the well-being of Earth, our common home.

It provides a further opportunity for our Mercy family
to be supported in their commitment to our shared
mission. We are proud to report that the website
has received two Bronze Horizon Interactive awards
in the Advocacy/Non-Profit Websites section and
the Magazine/News/Blog section. The Horizon
Awards, recognising excellence in interactive media
production attract hundreds of entries from all over
the world. In addition the website received ‘Best of
Class: Religion’ and ‘Best of Class: Charity’ in the
Interactive Multimedia Association Awards.
The Administration and Finance area produces
new challenges and opportunities each year.
This year marked the final year of our major
dependence on member congregations to fund us.
We are very grateful for the quarter of a century of
generous funding, and we recognise that changing
demographics lessens the congregations’ ability to
continue at the same rate. We have prepared for
this by establishing an Endowment Fund, which
will yield its first income in 2019. MIA is aware that
our future funding will depend increasingly on
fundraising and so in April 2018 we appointed a fulltime Development Officer.
Another major event in the administration area
included the adoption of the Statement of
Recommended Practice (SORP) to present our
Financial Statements. The charity SORP requires
a greater level of information and disclosures to
provide transparency and accountability. There are
more requirements for the directors’ report, more
analysis of income and expenditure and a focus on
the funds position.
The introduction of GDPR (The General Data

Protection Regulation) which came into force across
the EU in May, created many compliance demands.
We are happy to announce that our efforts in this
regard merited nomination for ‘Best Governance
Improvement Initiative’ sponsored by Carmichael
which recognises initiatives that have been taken
to improve the quality of governance of non-profit
organisations.
In November the Charities Regulator (Ireland)
launched the ‘Charities Governance Code’, which
sets out basic standards that charity trustees should
meet when managing their organisations. The code
will play a key role in building public trust and
confidence in Irish charities. MIA, as an Irish charity,
welcome its publication, and we are well on the way
to ensuring that we are fully compliant with it.
As we look back on a year of great successes,
we are also aware of the challenges. A changing
demographic and clientele means that we must
constantly keep our Heritage and Spirituality
programme under review both for relevance and
sustainability. Our International Centre is a treasured
asset and a core element of pilgrimage to the
founding House of Mercy, but as an almost 200 yearold building, it requires continuous maintenance
and heritage conservation.
Our Global Action programme aims at connecting
the local and the global. Since much of our work is
focussed on root causes, it demands considerable
interaction with high-level policymakers. We aim to
ensure that Governments’ commitments at these
levels are enacted at the local level and that our
Mercy ministries on the ground benefit. Measuring
impact in this regard is an ongoing challenge.

Our financial viability depends increasingly on
investment performance and fundraising. These,
in turn, are subject to volatility in the investment
environment and increased competition in the
fundraising environment.
For this reason, the stewardship of our resources is
a top priority in the way we undertake our financial
management and our fundraising endeavours. All of
these challenges are included in a Risk Management
Plan (page 72) which is reviewed regularly by the
Board. Among the challenges to be negotiated over
the coming year are personnel changes. The current
chairperson will retire in May, and a new CEO will be
recruited and appointed by the end of 2019.
I take this opportunity to thank Denise Fox rsm for
her visionary leadership as Chair of the Board over
the last two years and her nine years committment
as an MIA Director.
As we look towards the coming year, we are excited
by the prospect of celebrating the 25th anniversary
of the opening of Mercy International Centre. Several
developments for the celebration are planned.
These are outlined on page 96.
We hope you will enjoy the more detailed story of
2018 in the pages that follow. Without the support
of our members, board, staff, donors and partners
in Mercy, to whom we offer sincerest thanks, there
would not be a story to tell.

Mary Reynolds rsm
CEO
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About Mercy International Association
Beginnings
In 1827 Catherine McAuley, an heiress
of considerable wealth, used her
inheritance to provide a building and
a ministry to address poverty and
suffering in the Dublin of her time.
Four years later she founded the
Sisters of Mercy to serve those in need
through education, health care and
social services, firstly in Dublin, then
throughout Ireland and later overseas.
The House of Mercy that Catherine
McAuley established opened the door
of Mercy to those in need. It provided
a home both for those who were poor,
and those who were committed to an
emerging Mercy spirituality.
Growth
For over 190 years Sisters of Mercy
have established foundations in over
40 countries across five continents.
Today, Mercy ministry is a fruitful
collaboration between the Sisters of
Mercy and hundreds of thousands of
lay women and men serving together.
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Structure
MIA was incorporated on 12 October
1992 as a company limited by
guarantee registered in the Republic
of Ireland and recognised as having
charitable status. MIA links the
Mercy Institutes, Congregations and
Federations throughout the world.
While MIA shares a bond with all
Mercy organisations, it is separate and
autonomous from the governance
structures and responsibilities of
these organisations.
MIA was established
• to foster unity among these
groups and to increase awareness
and
experience
of
their
interdependence
• to facilitate collaboration among
them in addressing root causes of
needs and injustices experienced
locally but with global causation
• to encourage and nurture Mercy
values among those who seek to
live out these values and to promote
the flourishing of the Mercy
charism in services operated in the
name of Mercy
• to restore and maintain the

founding House of Mercy, now
known as Mercy International
Centre
(MIC)
which
was
reopened in 1994 as a Heritage
Centre.

Today, through sacred listening and
contemplative dialogue, an evolving
Mercy spirituality responds to ‘the cry
of Earth and the cry of the Poor’ in new
ways.

Today
MIA is a public benefit entity. The
benefit it provides is the promotion
and advancement of Mercy values
and the relief of poverty. Through an
effective communication structure,
it enables networking for mission.
It promotes the advancement of
religion and the relief of poverty
through
Mercy
Leadership
programmes and Global advocacy
and action in relation to justice
issues.

To enable the mission of MIA to be
achieved, good governance, effective
management and efficient operations
must be assured. Careful stewardship of
the resources of MIA (charism, human,
financial, heritage, environmental
etc) is undertaken so that the vision
can continue to be implemented.

The objectives of MIA today are
• to enable Sisters of Mercy, their
associates and partners-inministry to develop a global sense
of identity and interconnection
in their Mercy activities.
• To share the richness of the Mercy
heritage as a basis for formation,
education and advocacy.
• To respond to issues of global
poverty.

Standards
The Board of MIA is responsible
for determining the specific values
and standards for the organisation,
building on the core values. Individual
directors are expected to show
leadership by promoting these values
and standards.

Core Values
We ground our work in scripture, theology and the Mercy story:
We are inspired by the scripture invitation to be merciful; the theology
that calls us to act lovingly and justly; and by the Mercy tradition of
responding to need.

We are committed to professional relationships and practices:
Directors, management, employees, contractors and volunteers are expected
to adhere to the highest standards of personal and professional behaviour and
to put the principles of integrity, accountability and transparency into practice.

We are pro-active in identifying and addressing global poverty:
Mercy responds locally to need in the 40+ countries in which Mercy is
present. Through Mercy International, we advocate in relation to the root
causes underpinning these needs.

We are open to challenges and new directions:
We engage in strategic thinking and planning. We consciously embrace
change management, adapting to change and leading others in the organisation
to be open to change.

We use our resources for Mission:
Sisters of Mercy through MIA use their resources (human, spiritual, social
and financial) to respond to issues of global poverty, demonstrated in
the massive displacement of persons worldwide.
We promote hospitality:
We aim to make the founding House of Mercy a home space for the Mercy
global family - a place of welcome, hospitality, pilgrimage and renewal.
We foster collaboration and networking:
We challenge our membership to consider what we can do better
together, than any of us can do apart.
We value interconnection and communication:
We develop communication resources (website, weekly newsletter and
network structures) to promote effective communication and
interconnection.
We are attentive to the multicultural, multilingual, international
dimension of our membership:
Where possible we provide English and other language versions of
materials we produce and we showcase the cultures of the countries in
which Mercy operates.
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Vision
Mercy International Association
Vision Statement

Fís Chomhlachas Idirnáisiúnta
na Trócaire

Declaración de Visión de la Asociación
Internacional de la Misericordia

Te Moemoeā o Te Whānau
Atawhai ki te Ao

English

Gaelic

Español

Maori

Deeply rooted in the Gospel and the
legacy of Catherine McAuley, Mercy
International Association seeks to gather
the inspiration and energies of the Sisters
of Mercy, our associates, colleagues and
partners worldwide toward the creation
of a Mercy Global Presence. Standing with
the displaced, we will model a world of
welcome and inclusion. Actively engaged
in the protection of our Common Home,
we will witness to the sacredness of
all creation. Through the work of the
Association and through the longings and
efforts of the entire Mercy family, we will
strive for the globalization of compassion
and the recognition of God’s mercy as
present and active in our world.

Fréamhaithe go doimhin sa soiscéal and
in oidhreacht Chaitríona Nic Amhlaigh,
lorgaíonn Comhlachas Idirnáisiúnta na
Trócaire inspioráid agus spreacadh ár
siúracha, ár gcomhaltaí, ár gcomhpháirtí
agus ár bpáirtí ar fud an domhain mhóir
chun Saol Trócaireach Domhanda a
chruthú. Seasadh muid leis an dream
atá gan dídean agus faoi chois agus
cuireadh muid saol cuimsítheach fáiltiúil,
gníomhach ar fáil dóibh ar chuile bhealach.

Profundamente arraigada en el Evangelio
y el legado de Catalina McAuley, la
Asociación Internacional de la Misericordia
busca reunir la inspiración y energías
de las Hermanas de la Misericordia,
nuestras asociadas y asociados, colegas,
socias y socios por todo el mundo para
la creación de una Presencia Global de
la Misericordia. En solidaridad con los
desplazados, tendremos como modelo
un mundo de acogida e inclusión. Con
nuestra entrega activa a la protección de
nuestra Casa Común, daremos testimonio
de la santidad de toda la creación. Por
medio del trabajo de la Asociación y de
los anhelos y esfuerzos de toda la familia
de la Misericordia nos esforzaremos para
que la globalización de la compasión y
reconocimiento de la misericordia de
Dios estén presentes y activas en nuestro
mundo.

Nā te mana o te Rongopai me tērā o
Catherine McAuley, ka karanga a Mercy
International Association ki te whanau
whanui o Mercy, ā, kia tākiri ake te ngākau
Atawhai I te Ao. Hei atawhai....tā mātou
kaupapa mātua, tū tonu I te ao I te pō.

This vision keeps alive the Founding Spirit
of Catherine among people of the World
most in need of God’s compassion and
Mercy.

12

Agus muid ag cosaint ár mBaile Comónta,
tugadh muid fianaise faoi spioradáltacht
na Cruinne. Tré obair an Chomhlachais
agus thnúthántacht agus saothar mhuintir
na Trócaire ar fad, déanadh muid iarracht
trua agus taise domhanda a bheith againn
agus aitheantas a thabhairt do thrócaire
Dé inár measc agus gníomhach i gcónaí ar
an saol seo. Coinníonn an fhís seo spiorad
Chaitríona beo i measc muintir an domhain
mhóir a bhfuil trua agus trócaire Dé de
dhíth orthu.

Esta visión mantiene vivo el Espíritu
Fundador de Catalina entre la gente del
Mundo más necesitada de la compasión y
Misericordia de Dios.

Ko Papatuānuku ki raro, ko Ranginui ki
runga, kei te mihi tonu ki a kōrua, a ki te Ao
ateā ano hoki. Te toto o te tangata, he kai;
te oranga o te tangata, he whenua*.
Ko tō mātou wawata, tūmanako,
moemoeā, kia whakakiko ai I te ao kātoa,
te aroha o te Atua
Ko te tirohanga nei, ka hā tonu te wairua o
Catherine ki ngā rawa kore e kimi ana tēnei
aroha pūmau.
*Maori whakatauki (proverb)

Le Tofāmamao a le Faapotopotoga
Faa-va-o-Mālo a le Agaalofa

As Tingting bilong Mercy International
Association

Pananaw At Pahayag Ng Pandaigdigang
Samahan Ng Pagkahabag

Ko e fakalea ‘o e Visone faka-mamani lahi
‘a e va’a fengaue’aki ‘a e ngaahi Kautaha
Manava’ofa.

Samoan

Tok Pisin

Tagalog

Tongan

Loloto ma maua’a i le Tala Lelei, faatasi
ai ma le agaga o Katalina McAuley, O le
Faapotopotoga Faa-va-o-malo a le Ituaiga
o le Agaalofa, e sa’ili ma tuufaatāsia
faanaunauga, ma manatu o Tama’ita’isā o
le Agaalofa, atoa ai ma faalapotopotoga,
ma pa’aga i itu e fia o le lalolagi, I le
faavaeina lea o Sui Auai Faa va ō Malo o
le Agaalofa. O tūtū faatasi ma i latou ua
fa’aaunu’ua, matou te faaa’oa’o atu se
lalolagi na te aumaia ma taliaina lelei
soo se tasi. E galulue malosi i le puipuia
o lo Tatou Nofoaga, matou te molimau
tinoina le tāua o lo tatou foafoaga. Mai i
galuega a lenei Faapotopotoga, atoa ai ma
faanaunauga ma taumafaiga a le Ituaiga o
le Agaalofa i le lalolagi, matou te tauivi mo
le faatamaoaigaina atoa o le alofa ma le
faailoaina o le alofa o le Atua, o loo soifua
ma galue pea i totonu o lo tatou lalolagi. O
lenei tofāmamao o loo taolaolaina ai pea
le agaga sa faavaeina mai ai le Ituaiga e
Katalina i tagata o le lalolagi, i latou o ē sili
ona mana’omia le agalelei ma le agaalofa o
le Atua.

Mercy International Association, i kisim
strong long Gutnius na as tingting long ol
gutpela pasin bilong Katrin McAuley. Mercy
International Association i wok painimaut,
na bung wantaim ol gutpela tingting na
strong bilong ol Mersi Sista, ol wanwok,
ol wantok na olgeta lain i bihainim wei
na pasin bilong Catherine McAuley, long
olgeta hap bilong graun. Mipela i sanap
wantaim ol lain i nogat ples bilong ol yet,
na soim na markim pasin welkam na bung
wantaim long wol. Na tu mipela i wok bung
wantaim, long lukautim na onarim olgeta
samting God is wokim i stap long ples
bilong yumi.

Naka ugat ng malalim ang ebanghelyo
at pamana ni Catherine McAuley kaya
ang Mercy International Association ay
nagsisikap na matipon ang inspirasyon
at enerhiya ng Sisters of Mercy, mga
kasamahan at kapanalig ng kongregasyong
ito sa buong mundo tungo sa paglikha ng
Mercy Global Presence. Sa pakikiramay
sa mga taong nilikas ang kanilang
tahanan dahil sa sakuna o sa puwersa
ng mga makapangyarihang tao, tayo ang
magsisilbing huwaran sa pandaigdigang
pagtanggap at pagkakaugnay. Sa
masigasig na pakikilahok bilang
proteksyon sa Bahaging Tahanan, tayo ay
maging saksi sa kabanalan ng nilikha sa
pamamagitan ng mga gawain at pagnanais
ng buong asosasyon. Tayo ay magsisikap
na maipalaganap sa buong mundo ang
awa ng Diyos.

Ke aka ‘i he Kosipeli pea mo e tukufakaholo
‘o Katalina Makooli, ‘oku makatu’unga ai
e fekumi e va’a fengaue’aki faka-mamani
lahi ‘a e Kautaha Manava’ofa, mo hono
kaunga ngaue ke fakahoko e ngaue ke
fokotu’u ha fa’unga ‘o e Manava’ofa ‘i
hotau lotolotonga. Ke tau tu’u fakataha
ai mo kinautolu ‘oku nau tukuhausia,
‘o tau fakahaa’i ha founga fakamamani
lahi ‘i hono faka kaumai mo talitali lelei e
tokotaha kotoa. Ko hono ngaue’i fakataha
‘a e malu’i hotau ‘atakai, mo lava tu’uaki ‘a
e molumalu mo e toputapu ‘o e fakatupu
kotoa pe. ‘E fou atu ‘i he ngaue ko eni ‘a
e Kautaha ni, ‘a hono fakakau ‘a e ngaahi
faka’amu mo e ivi ngaue ‘a e kotoa ‘o
hotau memipa ‘o e famili Manava’ofa, ‘aia
ko hono paotoloaki fakamamani lahi ‘a e
mo’ui kaunga ongo’i ke fakahaa’i ai ‘a e
Manava’ofa ‘a e ‘Otua ‘i hotau lotolotonga.
Ko e Visione ma’ongo’onga ni, ‘oku
ne falute ai ‘a e ‘amanaki lelei ki hono
pukepuke ‘a e fa’unga mo e laumalie ‘o
Katalina Makooli, ‘i he kakai ‘o e Mamani ‘a
e ‘oku nau vivili ki he mo’ui kaungaongo’i
mo e Manava’ofa ‘a e ‘Otua.

Long wok bilong Association, na ol
strongpela laik na tingting bilong olgeta
Mersi Famili, mipela i traim long kirapim
wol i gat pasin sori na luksave long
marimari bilong God i stap laip long wol.
Dispela as tingting i kirapim na mekim
Spirit bilong Catherine McAuley, i stap laip
namel long olgeta pipol long wol, husait i
nidim sori na marimari bilong God.

Ang pananaw at banal na diwa ni Catherine
ay magsisilbing buhay sa lahat ng tao sa
mundo lalo sa mga nangangailangan ng
awa at aruga ng ating panginoong Diyos.
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Where Mercy Ministers
Mercy works in locations across the world in the areas of education, health, social services and ministries that further social, political, economic and spiritual wellbeing. These works keep alive the founding spirit of Catherine McAuley among the peoples of the world most in need of God’s compassion and Mercy.

Argentina, Australia, Belize, Cambodia, Canada, Channel Islands, Chile, England, Ethiopia, Guam, Guyana, Honduras, Ireland, Jamaica, Kenya, Lebanon,
New Zealand, Nigeria, Northern Ireland, Pakistan, Panama, Papua New Guinea, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Romania, Samoa, Scotland, South Africa, South
Sudan, Timor Leste, Tonga, United States of America, Vietnam, Wales, Zambia.
14

Heritage and Spirituality
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Heritage and Spirituality
The goal of the Heritage, Spirituality and Mercy Leadership Training is to continue to extend
the potential of the founding House of Mercy to nourish and support all who seek knowledge
and immersion in the Mercy Story.
Mercy International Centre is a place of welcome and hospitality, a home for the precious
heritage of Catherine, a centre for the development of Mercy theological reflection and
spirituality and a place of renewal and nourishment of Mercy charism and ethos.
The Mercy global family consists of 6000 Sisters of Mercy, 5000 Mercy associates and almost
half a million partners-in-Mercy. It is the associates and partners who are the main promoters
and providers of Mercy Ministry today. For them to be more effective in this role, there is a need
for ongoing formation.

Heritage And
Spirituality Aims
1. To provide formation in the
Mercy ethos, so that lay partners in
ministry and the next generation
will be effective carriers of Mercy
into the future
2. To ensure that the Mercy story is
protected, preserved and used in
such a way that it is an inspiration
for contemporary and future Mercy
mission
3. To nourish Mercy Spirituality and
mission in people’s lives

Pilgrims on the Young Mercy Leaders Pilgrimage
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4. To offer a facility to a range of
people who wish to use Mercy
International Centre for meetings
and events that have a religious,
social or justice focus.

Leadership Training Programmes

Programme Participation

The Mercy Leadership Training programmes conducted at Mercy International
Centre are a major contribution to the development of the Mercy charism, the
telling of the Mercy story, and the promotion of global interconnectedness. In
2018 participants came from Ireland, USA, England, Australia, Philippines, New
Zealand, Newfoundland, Samoa, Tonga, Argentina and Papua New Guinea.

In 2018 fifteen programmes, varying in length from three days to one month
and covering approximately 100 days were offered. Over 500 people engaged in
these programmes.

The Young Mercy Leaders programme provides secondary school and college
students from across the globe with the opportunity to come to Mercy
International Centre to experience the riches of the Mercy story and to return
to daily life better equipped to be leaders in their schools, colleges and world.
The programmes included the following:
• presentations on Catherine McAuley and the development of Mercy around
the world in response to need
• workshops on leadership skills in the tradition of Mercy
• exploration of Mercy values in order to form individuals in Catherine
McAuley’s philosophy, as they execute professional roles they hold in
education, health care, and social outreach
• experiences in Mercy spirituality
• highlighting of the major focus of global Mercy – addressing displacement
of people, including the trafficking of people; sustainable development;
eradication of root causes of poverty
• development of Mercy global interconnectedness in the service of mission.
In addition, three online presentations were offered:
• ‘The Eighth Work of Mercy: Caring for our Common Home’ delivered by Sr
Mary Sullivan rsm
• ‘Catherine McAuley and Family’ delivered by Sr Brenda Dolphin rsm to
coincide with the World Meeting of Families that was held in Dublin in 2018
• Mary Reynolds rsm and Anna Nicholls rsm delivered a 90-minute
presentation/tour of the House online to leaders gathered for the US Mercy
Secondary Education Association Conference.
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Daily Tours

Education Programme

Conducted daily tours of Mercy International Centre in Lower
Baggot St, Dublin are a feature of the Centre. These tours tell the
Mercy story and nourish Mercy spirituality and mission in people’s
lives.

A new Education Programme was developed that specifically catered for those engaged
in Mercy education throughout the world. The content highlighted the development of
education in the early years of Mercy and explored a Mercy response to contemporary
issues in education such as cyber bullying.

One of the main reasons people come on pilgrimage to Mercy
International Centre is to visit the grave of Catherine McAuley.
Catherine has been officially recognised by the Church as being on
the first step to sainthood. She was declared Venerable by Pope
John Paul II on 9 April 1990. Catherine’s grave is an integral part
of the Mercy International Centre and amongst the memorabilia
associated with Catherine are several items that have first, second
and third class relic attributes.

The feedback from the participants included the following:

In 2018, one thousand seven hundred (1,700) people came to visit
and tour Mercy International Centre.

Priorities to advance Aim 1
In 2018 six priorities were set to develop Aim 1:
• review existing programmes
• develop new programmes which could be offered as either onsite, off-site or on-line
• incorporate an exploration of ‘Mercy Global Presence’ into the
programmes
• develop resources suitable for different age groups visiting
Mercy International Centre
• explore ways to utilise developments in interactive
technologies to further engage a younger generation
• continuous review and improvement to the four-day Young
Mercy Leaders Programme.
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‘When revisiting the ‘story’ of Mercy, there is always something new. I heard things that I had
not heard before, there were new emphases, and new learnings in considering Catherine’s
story, and thinking about how it applies in our lives and settings.’
‘Meeting others from different parts of the globe, who are so committed to ‘Mercy Education’
gave a wonderful dimension to the whole experience.’
‘The week presented a richly reflective programme that asks us to ensure the work we do
is relevant for our current context while remaining true to Catherine’s mission. The full
immersion in Catherine’s place and story is inspirational, moving me forward to be better in
my work, stronger in my responsibilities to care for people and our world and more aware of
my behaviour as a leader.’
‘This has been an amazing highlight of my work life as well as a personal opportunity for
true spiritual development. I am deeply appreciative to the team for the programme they
offered.’
‘This programme immersed us into Catherine’s life and community at Baggot St. The stories
of the first Sisters steeped us into the Mercy community as it was developing in the early
1800’s and made it come alive. The programme was well structured with prayer, talks,
powerpoint presentations, discussions, walks and visits.’

Mercy to Earth Programme
This programme included studying the Scriptures through an ecological lens; an
exploration of climate change as experienced by low lying Pacific nations; the sustainable
development policies and practices in action; the impact of typhoons on places where
Sisters minister; the contribution of mining and other extractive industries to degradation
of earth and the work of the Mercy Global Action in relation to water.
Through video conferencing, presentations were delivered by speakers from Tonga,
Australia, the Philippines, USA and Peru. In-house presentations were made by speakers
from Ireland. These presentations were contextualised within the outcomes of the Mercy
International Reflection Process Review that had identified the degradation of Earth and
displacement of Persons as the major focus for attention. ‘Mercy Global Presence’ was
identified as a vibrant energy for positive change in our world today.
The feedback from the participants included the following:
‘This is a must for the MIA calendar. It was superbly organised. Through IT we were given
a kaleidoscope of ecology issues to ponder, reflect, and to marvel at and be grateful for
along with presenters who were physically present in the International Room. The trip to
Glendalough was refreshing and made the presentations a reality as we experienced the
mercying and compassioning of the earth there to us.’
‘I felt the video links with distant countries were for me an illustration of Pope Francis’
message in Laudato Si’ that we are all one family, the family of creation. I was so impressed
at the Mercy efforts being made around the world to heal our planet, to hear the cry of the
earth and the cry of the poor. It is a privilege to be part of that family.’
Participants at MIC led in ritual by video conference with a Presenter in
Peru
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Review Programmes
Three programmes, in particular,
were evaluated: Wellsprings; Come
Home to Catherine and the Education
Pilgrimage.
Wellsprings: four-week renewal
This year there was an overall
coordinator of the programme, who
wove a Scripture thread throughout
the month’s activities. This was very
favourably received by the participants
and also meant that the programme
was seen as an integrated programme
and not, as in past years, 4 distinct
modules. The model will be repeated
next year.

Incorporate an exploration of ‘Mercy Global
Presence’ into programmes
Mercy Global Presence was integrated into the
Wellsprings programme through the presentation
of several sessions over four days. The first day
focussed on Global issues of concern in our world
today; the second day on Mercy, drawing on Scripture
and tradition to inspire response to need; the third
day on Presence, focussing on the challenge for each
person to make Mercy a reality in their own sphere of
influence, followed by an integration day.
The feedback from the participants included
the following:

‘The presenter, in highlighting the need for broader-based
approaches to the issues of our time in a global context of Mercy,
challenged me to develop a sense of a ‘field’ of Mercy - a cosmic
understanding that is drawing us forward.’
‘The presenter challenged me not because of her content which was
magnificent, but because of the depth and breadth of her vision and
that so much material was offered over just four days! I will need to
reflect for many months on her presentations and the implications
for worldwide Mercy ‘cutting edges’. Her material could well fill a
whole semester if ever such is planned: or maybe her material could
be presented online, in seminar form, for Mercy people worldwide.’

Come Home to Catherine: one week
This programme gives participants
opportunities to walk and pray in
places associated with Catherine at
MIC and in the city of Dublin. Although
the programme attracted only a small
number of participants in 2018 it was
decided to offer it again in 2019.
Education Pilgrimage
This formation programme for people
engaged in educational organisations
was first presented in January. The
content was then reviewed and has
since been further expanded and
developed. It was delivered again in
July 2018 and a decision was made to
offer it as a progamme each January.
20

Wellsprings Participants and Presenters

Develop resources suitable for different age
groups visiting Mercy International Centre
The programmes are continuously renewed to
meet the needs of different age groups. A new
documentary ‘In God Alone: The Story of Catherine
McAuley’ was scripted with a wide age group audience
in mind. Worksheets for a variety of age groups were
developed to accompany the discussions following
the viewing of the film and they included activities
using some of the digital images from the footage.

This was an innovative addition to the programme
and the pilgrims were appreciative of the
opportunity to engage this aspect of the programme
in a fun way. The facilitator for the programme was
herself a previous pilgrim on a Young Mercy Leaders
Programme who now holds the position of the
Women’s Leadership Development and Advocacy
Associate at the MIA office based in New York.
She proved to be an inspiring role model for the
programme participants.

Explore ways to increase the digital footprint to
better engage a younger generation
A number of meetings with technology agencies
were held early in 2018 to explore possibilities
for redeveloping the heritage space and other
areas throughout the centre with more interactive
technologies to relate to a new generation of
pilgrims. A comprehensive proposal to upgrade the
technology throughout the centre was presented to
the Congregation Leaders and Board in May. This
will require significant funding which has yet to be
secured.

At the conclusion of the programme, students were
provided with a wi-fi password which facilitated an
electronic evaluation. This resulted in the highest
percentage evaluation return from a pilgrimage in
any year.

Vox headsets were purchased to enhance pilgrimage
and tour experiences.
Continue to review and improve the 4–Day
Young Mercy Leaders Programme
In 2018 the pilgrimage for the Young Mercy Leaders
(18+ age group) included a scavenger hunt/race
around Catherine’s Dublin – aimed at giving the
participants an experience to acquaint themselves
with the places associated with Catherine’s story.

An important element of the programme was the
session that supported students in planning Mercy
actions when they return to their schools and
colleges. Information was provided about how they
can support MIA’s Mercy Mission.
Students at the pilgrimage were given information
on Mercy Corps (a year-long Mercy volunteer
programme offered by the Sisters of Mercy of the
Americas) and on other volunteer groups that
support the mission. Additionally, they had time
to develop a personal action plan for continued
engagement with Mercy mission. It is intended that
the newly launched Mercy website will provide
opportunities to further develop strategies to reach
young people.
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Heritage And
Spirituality Aims
1. To provide formation in the
Mercy ethos, so that lay partners in
ministry and the next generation
will be effective carriers of Mercy
into the future
2. To ensure that the Mercy story is
protected, preserved and used in
such a way that it is an inspiration
for contemporary and future Mercy
mission
3. To nourish Mercy Spirituality and
mission in people’s lives
4. To offer a facility to a range of
people who wish to use Mercy
International Centre for meetings
and events that have a religious,
social or justice focus.
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Mercy International Centre holds a precious
collection of artefacts associated with
Catherine McAuley. These include a large
collection of her letters, many items of
personal memorabilia, and a number of gifts
received by her from supportive friends and
benefactors, as well as furniture and other
goods which she brought with her to Baggot
Street in 1827.
A number of very special items are on
permanent loan to the Mercy International
Centre, including Catherine’s profession
ring and her cincture. The Centre also holds
a collection of the illuminated art and
calligraphy work of Clare Augustine Moore,
contemporary of Catherine McAuley, as
well as the drawings of Clare Agnew who
produced vivid artistic depictions of the
early works of Mercy.

The Centre holds the International Register
containing the name and some information
about every Sister of Mercy from Catherine
McAuley to the present day. The Register holds
over 55,000 names.
The Mercy International Centre library has
three main sections: biographies of Catherine
McAuley and some of the early founding Sisters;
a selection of spiritual books from mid C19 and
a collection of books, written by or about Sisters
of Mercy and Mercy Ministries. MIA is grateful to
those who have donated their published works
to the library throughout the year.
Mercy International Centre has compiled an
Inventory of Primary Source Material. This
computerised inventory aims at assembling
all primary source materials in Mercy archives
worldwide.

Priorities To Advance Aim 2
Develop the Digital Archives further by creating electronic
copies of all holdings and exploring software systems for
electronic archival storage and online access
MIA invested in Preservica, an online archive system which will
enable resources to be accessed online. Much time was invested
in this over the year, particularly by volunteers.
Rotate the content of the display cabinets regularly
This has been accomplished. A particular focus on Frances
Warde, foundress of the Sisters of Mercy in the United States, was
developed to celebrate 175 years since the departure of the Sisters
from Ireland to the United States. It focussed on the 10 years that
Frances spent in the House at Baggot Street.

Catherine McAuley Relics
In response to a request to borrow relics of Catherine McAuley, MIA prepared a reliquary
consisting of three relics - swatches of Catherine’s visitation cloak, her coif and her bed jacket.
The beautiful reliquary in the form of a framed picture was used as part of a Diocesan Opening
Ritual for the World Meeting of Families in Longford, Ireland.
The reliquary is available for Congregations and Institutes wishing to incorporate it into a
ritual or prayer service.

Evaluate the existing set-up and make recommendations
for future renovations of the heritage display area
Extensive work was done with two companies to look at
possibilities for developments. The proposals were made and can
be implemented in the future once funding becomes available for
this project.
Develop Heritage display areas throughout MIC (fixed and
temporary)
Cabinets, originally used for fire hoses that are now redundant,
have been upgraded to provide additional display space for
artefacts in the MIA Collection. All heritage signage was renewed
to ensure accuracy and consistent style.
Update content on the International Room touch screens to
reflect contemporary Mercy mission/Global action
New display materials from Mercy areas around the world have
been requested with a view to updating the display screens.

Relics being carried in the procession in Longford
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Remake the film on the life of Catherine McAuley
This was a significant undertaking
in 2018 that was made possible by
the generosity and support of Mercy
Health (St Louis).

Twelve months later, after film shoots
in both Ireland and the United States,
‘In God Alone: the Story of Catherine
McAuley’ was produced.

The premiere of the film, ‘In God Alone:
the Story of Catherine McAuley’, was
held at MIC on 2 November 2018. In
attendance were the MIA Board, Sisters
of Mercy, partners-in-Mercy, present
and former staff of MIA, consultants,
donors and representatives of Mercy
Health responsible for the production.

The 23-minute film highlights the
extraordinary
actions
of
this
remarkable woman who gave all,
both in her day-to-day actions and
in her financial support, in service of
others. She challenged the existing
structures of the Church and society
at the time, and toward the end of her
life found a way to continue the works
of Mercy through the establishment
of the Sisters of Mercy in 1831. Today
6000 Sisters of Mercy, 5000 associates
and close to half a million partners-inMercy continue to serve throughout
the world in over 40 countries. This
film will enable a new generation of
Mercy women and men to explore and
be inspired by the life and actions of
this selfless woman of Mercy.

Almost twenty-five years ago the docudrama ‘Circle of Mercy’ was made
about the life of Catherine McAuley
to coincide with the re-opening of the
House of Mercy as Mercy International
Centre. While the story of this heroic
Dublin woman has not changed,
it was time for a new version to be
created. Creating something of the
desired quality was a very long-term
fundraising dream for MIA.
The dream became a reality when in
October 2017, CEO, Lynn Britton, and
some senior staff from Mercy Health
were visiting MIC. They saw the current
version and requested, what they
named as a privilege, to remake the
documentary for MIA, using the talents
and resources of their organisation.
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The film had its first US premiere in St
Louis on the 5th December.
The
film
and
accompanying
worksheets for students will be
available online for all on the
Mercyworld.org website from March
2019.

Filming took place at Mercy International
Centre, St Teresa’s Church in Clarendon
Street, Sir Patrick Dun’s Hospital, Kilkenny,
Thomastown, Maynooth, and in St Louis.
While many of the senior crew were from St
Louis, local professional actors were used in
each location.

Particular care was taken to use the original
artefacts where possible or to make accurate
replicas. The plans of the House are one such
example where an exact copy was made to
use in the film, even with the detail of the wax
seals on it.

Capturing the essence of Catherine’s life in
twenty three minutes required the work of
an outstanding script-writer. Utilising the
research conducted, particularly in recent
years, accuracy of text was paramount to give
authenticity to the story. Lighting and wideangle cameras enhanced the production.

Costuming was extensive for the 80 plus
cast, full habits accurate to those worn in the
1830s were made and other costumes were
chosen for their likeness to items such as the
bedjacket preserved in the House of Mercy.
The costuming was supported by a strong
hair and makeup crew to bring the era to life.

The film has been created in full HD
widescreen format. Initially the film will be
available with Spanish subtitles as well as
English subtitles and it is hoped that further
versions with subtitles in the languages of the
Mercyworld can be created.
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Heritage And
Spirituality Aims
1. To provide formation in the
Mercy ethos, so that lay partners in
ministry and the next generation
will be effective carriers of Mercy
into the future
2. To ensure that the Mercy story is
protected, preserved and used in
such a way that it is an inspiration
for contemporary and future Mercy
mission

More and more people are searching for a relevant spirituality that will give meaning to and
sustain their lives. Part of this phenomen is the popularity of pilgrimage which is defined as a
journey or search of spiritual significance and an exploration of how a particular tradition, vision
or philosophy can enrich and give meaning to one’s life.
MIA, through Mercy International Centre – the place where it all began and which is the public
flagship of Mercy’s global mission - wants to offer opportunities to nourish spirituality to the
members of the congregations, friends and visitors from around the world and to provide
opportunities for all associated with Mercy.

3. To nourish Mercy Spirituality and
mission in people’s lives
4. To offer a facility to a range of
people who wish to use Mercy
International Centre for meetings
and events that have a religious,
social or justice focus.
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Tour Guides for the Youth Pilgrimage

Priorities To Advance Aim 3
Develop plans for the Sacred Garden which contains the grave of
Catherine McAuley and fundraise to meet this development
Plans were developed to incorporate reflection, remembrance and education spaces
and to upgrade planting and water features. Fundraising has raised the necessary
capital for the development.
Develop a year plan for spirituality conversations
Mercy International Reflection Process identified the need for a new theology, new
images of God, a new language and new conversations. A process was developed to
engage these conversations, which will be enacted in 2019.
Initiate discussion topics with Sisters aged under 60
The ongoing activity of this group, conducted on line, has focussed on the monthly
time for prayer. Each of these meetings has provided a rich experience for those who
are able to participate depending on the time zone.
Prepare engaging liturgies for Mercy feast days and for groups visiting the Centre
Eucharistic Liturgies were prepared for Mercy Day; Remembrance Day; Foundation
Day, Young Mercy Leaders, Congregation Leaders and Board meetings,
Wellsprings programme and a group from Newfoundland celebrating 300 years
since the birth of Nano Nagle. Additionally, rituals have been led for various
groups on programmes including remembering Catherine’s death and burial,
leadership rituals, blessings, meditations and dance.
Supply reflection material for Mercyworld.org website
Materials have been provided for the website which have included many of the images
from the MIA Heritage collection, as well as resources that have been prepared for
programmes.

Prayer during the Youth Pilgrimage

27

Heritage And
Spirituality Aims
1. To provide formation in the
Mercy ethos, so that lay partners in
ministry and the next generation
will be effective carriers of Mercy
into the future
2. To ensure that the Mercy story is
protected, preserved and used in
such a way that it is an inspiration
for contemporary and future Mercy
mission
3. To nourish Mercy Spirituality and
mission in people’s lives
4. To offer a facility to a range of
people who wish to use Mercy
International Centre for meetings
and events that have a religious,
social or justice focus.
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Mercy International Centre is happy to offer accommodation to other groups that engage in
promoting activities that correspond with those of MIA.
The Chapel is a significant focal point in the Centre and provides a public service to a number
of groups. Several schools used the chapel for sacramental preparation, First Confession and
Communion, Confirmation, and school visits. Other groups requested to use the chapel for
the celebration of Eucharist. Each Sunday a Lectio Divina Mass Group was accommodated to
celebrate Eucharist and to engage in faith sharing.
St. Vincent de Paul Society meets weekly in the library to coordinate their ministry to poor and
underprivileged people in the local area.
The Dublin Chapter (one of 90 worldwide) of the Communion and Liberation Movement meets
monthly to use the video conferencing facilities of the Centre for the purpose of forming its
members in Christian living and to be co-workers in the Church’s mission in all areas of society.
Woman Spirit Ireland – The Institute for Feminism and Religion aims to explore a prophetic
approach to feminism and religion, inclusive of many traditions and emerging consciousness in
Ireland. They held a 10-week programme at MIC.
We Are Church Ireland -a group of concerned Irish Catholics committed to the renewal of the
Catholic Church on the basis of the Second Vatican Council and the theological spirit developed
from it, meet monthly in the Centre.

1,700 tour
participants

Preservation of
192-year-old
heritage building

15 leadership
programmes

Heritage and
Spirituality
€455,343

Researching
and curating
original art,
artefacts and
manuscripts

MIA
administrative
headquarters

Liturgical
Celebrations

7,000
visitors

Ongoing
meeting space
for six
organisations
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The Chapel in use for the Young Mercy Leaders Programme
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Global Action
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Global Action
MIA’s main objective is to continue the work of Catherine McAuley who sought not only to meet the needs of
poor people but who also addressed the systemic causes of poverty.
Two important seminal documents direct the work of MIA in relation to Global Action:

01

Sustainable Development Goals
The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, adopted by all United Nations Member
States in 2015, provides a shared blueprint for peace and prosperity for people and the
planet, now and into the future. At its heart are the 17 Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs), which are an urgent call for action by all countries - developed and developing - in
a global partnership.
They recognise that ending poverty and other deprivations must go hand-in-hand with
strategies that improve health and education, reduce inequality, and spur economic
growth – all while tackling climate change and working to preserve our oceans and forests.

02

Mercy International Reflection Process
Following on the extensive review carried out by Mercy International Association in 2017,
among its members and partners in ministry across more than 40 countries, on the major
issues negatively impacting our world and its people today, two areas of paramount
concern were identified:
a) the devastation of Earth 		

Colleen Cloonan at an event promoting the
Sustainable Development Goals
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b) the displacement of Persons.

In response to this, a Strategic Plan of action was put in place. The goal of the Strategic
Plan is to address issues that contribute to the devastation of Earth and the displacement
of People.
MIA’s network structure that connects it to the 40+ countries in which Mercy ministers, and its DPI and EcoSoc status at the UN, affords a unique capacity for linking the local and the global. This, in turn, allows MIA
to address root causes of selected issues related to the devastation of Earth and displacement of Persons.

How we approach Global Action Work
Advocacy and Campaigning

Networking

Policy Development

Advocacy and Campaigning at the UN is
accomplished primarily through NGO Committees,
working groups, contact with Member State
delegations, social movement, and the issuing of
reports and statements.

MIA maintains ongoing regular contact, including
bi-monthly conference calls with Global Action
personnel who coordinate action in the various
areas of the Mercy world regarding degradation of
earth and displacement of people. The main content
of these calls is communicated across the entire
Mercy network.

In collaboration with UN agencies and with other
members of civil societies and NGOs, Mercy brings the
grassroots experience of its members worldwide and
informed advocacy to bear on the decision-making
and policy agenda of the global community. With
other NGOs, MIA also participates in consultations of
civil society on global justice issues identified by the
Secretary General’s office, UN agencies, the Office of
Human Rights, and other entities.

MIA participated in the following Commissions in
2018:
• Commission on the Status of Women
• Commission on Economic and Social
Development
• High-Level Political Forums
• Human Rights Council Geneva
• Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues
• Conference on Sustainable Development
• Oceans Conference
• Thematic sessions to develop the Global
Compact on Migration
• Global Plan of Action Against Trafficking
• UN Framework Convention on Climate Change.
MIA also keeps abreast of Universal Periodic
Reviews (UPR) and Special Procedures-Geneva, and
follows statements from countries in which Mercy
is ministering and/or present during the UPR
Sessions. Canada was reviewed during the 30th
Session of the UPR in May 2018; and Nigeria, Belize
and Mexico in the 31st Session UPR in November
2018.

MIA also networks and builds alliances with both
faith-based organisations and other international
NGOs who share similar aspirations in relation
to eco-justice and human rights issues. These
include but are not limited to Green Faith, Blue
Planet, CAFOD and Council of Canadians, Jesuit
Refugee Services, Future We Need (an Irish intercongregation group working on Justice issues), the
Global Catholic Climate Movement, Committee to
Stop Trafficking in Persons (CSTIP), Religious at the
UN (RUN), Consultants to the UN High-Level Water
Panel, Churches and Mining, NGO Committee on
Migration. Networks with several Justice offices of
other religious congregations are also on-going.

Marian Gardner participating in a side event during the
Commission on the Status of Women
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Education
MIA conducts workshops on global justice issues
with Mercy groups. These comprise more than
20 inputs annually to leadership programmes at
Mercy International Centre, including inputs to the
Young Mercy Leadership programme; education
programmes with the Mercy Volunteer Corps – an
organisation that promotes social change by placing
and supporting volunteers for one year of service
with people who are poor and marginalised in the
United States and South America; workshops with
several schools and colleges.
MIA promotes and disseminates reports, resources
and information via its Mercy website and
newsletters on a variety of topics related to MIA
issues of global justice concern. Opportunities for
internship, fellowship programmes and educational
visits to the MIA office in New York are offered to
interested and suitable applicants.

Human Rights Analysis
MIA engages in research and human rights analysis
in preparation for several side-events organised
in conjunction with major commission meetings
of world leaders at the UN and particularly for oral
interventions and written submissions at the UN in
New York and Geneva. MIA engages in research and
human rights analysis for the global campaigns we
organise and the articles, information leaflets and
other works that we publish.
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Angela Reed rsm with other panelists and the moderator
of the Human Trafficking CSTIP parallel event during the
Commission on the Status of Women

Global
Action Aims
1. To advocate on behalf of
environmental and human
rights abuses in relation to
water
2. To address climate change
3. To respond to the migrant,
refugee and asylum seekers
crisis
4. To seek to eliminate
factors that provide a means
to pursue the trafficking of
people

Angela Reed rsm on the Panel for the Committee to Stop
Trafficking in Persons

The UN 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)
aim to ensure that by 2030 the world will have taken
huge strides to end poverty, reduce inequality,
tackle climate change and stop environmental
degradation. While MIA has identified 10 of the
17 SDGs (Goals 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 8, 12, 13, 15, 16) as
most relevant to the mission of Mercy in regard to
environmental degradation, we have prioritised the
right to water and sanitation as a focus for attention.
It is important to note that of the 17 SDGs there
is a stand-alone goal to ‘ensure availability and
sustainable management of water and sanitation
for all’. Considered a cross-cutting issue, the water
goal is seen as interdependent with other issues
including sustainable agriculture, health, gender
equality, energy, sustainable cities, inequalities,
sustainable consumption and production, climate
change and terrestrial ecosystems.

The human right to water and sanitation is guaranteed
under several international instruments, such as the
International Covenant on Economic, Social and
Cultural Rights, the Convention on the Elimination
of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and
the Convention on the Rights of the Child, as well as
in norms applicable in armed conflict. On this basis,
the obligation of governments to ensure the human
rights to water and sanitation for all is sustainable
without discrimination, must be the driving force
behind the implementation of SDG 6. Despite
these international commitments and obligations,
the management of water resources is frequently
not driven by human rights norms, but rather by
the interests of big businesses seeking maximum
profits. This leads to human rights violations and
grave consequences in the context of a global water
crisis.
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Mercy Experience on the Ground
Our members on the ground have first-hand experience of the ways that the
denial of the right to water and sanitation impacts people, especially those
living in poverty and in particular women and girls.

•

Among the disturbing issues were:
• water crises, brought on by pollution and contamination of oceans and water
sources, and climate change impacts, including drought, soil salinisation,
and ocean acidification, disproportionately impact people living in poverty
• a high percentage of people living in the developing countries in which we
work are suffering from health problems caused by poor water and sanitation
• water is increasingly impacted negatively by policies determined by
international financial and trade institutions (the World Bank, IMF and WTO),
including privatisation, which affects people’s vital role in decision-making
regarding water management. The poor are significantly affected when
water is privatised

•

Awareness-raising of water shortages. For example, in Detroit following the
privatisation of water services and in Argentina regarding the exploitation of
natural resources.

Women’s Voices for Integrated Water Policy’. Panellists included the Ambassador
of the Permanent Mission of Peru, a representative each from Blue Planet and St
John’s University, as well as activists from rural areas.

In its work on behalf of ecological and human rights, MIA networked with other
groups including the following: Blue Planet Project, Council of Canadians,
Churches in Mining, REPAM, WoMIN, CIDSE and with the Special Rapporteur on
Water and Sanitation at the UN.

Attendance at sessional meetings with Members of the UN High-Level Water
Panel, which consisted of 11 Heads of State and a Special Advisor. MIA’s presence
was instrumental in ensuring that the importance of the Human Right to Water
and Sanitation and valuing water, not as a commodity but a common right,
was included in the publication of ‘Making Every Drop Count’. This ‘Agenda for
Water Action’ presents many recommendations as part of an Outcome Report
from the panel and calls for a fundamental shift in the way the world manages
water so that the Sustainable Development Goals and in particular SDG 6, can
be achieved.

•

people living in the slums of Nairobi pay 5 to 10 times more for water
than those living in high-income areas in those same cities and more than
consumers in London or New York. In urban Kenya, the cost of connecting to
a water utility averages six months’ income
in many instances, women and girls bear the primary responsibility for
domestic tasks, including water collection, often at the expense of education,
income-generating activities, cultural and political involvement, rest and
recreation
in places with limited or no access to toilets, women and girls face an
impossible choice of either openly defecating or travelling long distances to
access toilets, both of which make them vulnerable to sexual assault and
harassment. Lack of adequate sanitation facilities in schools, markets and
workplaces often leads girls and women to avoid them, to the detriment of
their education, economic participation and income generation.

Priorities to Advance Aim 1

MIA advocated at the Commission on the Status of Women (CSW). The priority
theme for the Commission was ‘Challenges and Opportunities in achieving
gender equality and the empowerment of rural women and girls.’ The MIA
Global Action delegation engaged in the numerous activities provided, and
co-sponsored an event entitled ‘Wisdom, Water, and Rural Women: Unmuting
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Addressing the impact of Transnational Corporations

Advocated at the High-Level Political Forum (HLPF) for transformation
towards sustainable and resilient societies. This forum explored progress on
the SDGs and evaluated successes, challenges and lessons learned on the
road to a fairer, more peaceful and prosperous world and a healthy planet
by 2030. This concluded with the adoption of a Ministerial Declaration
reaffirming commitment to implementing the 2030 ‘Agenda for Sustainable
Development’, for all people everywhere, ensuring that no one is left behind.
The Forum also reviewed six out of the 17 SDGs, among them SDG 6. MIA cohosted a side event at the HLPF entitled ‘Defining the value of Water from a
Rights-Based Perspective’.

MIA prepared an oral intervention for the 4th Open-Ended Intergovernmental
Working Group on Transnational Corporations and Other Business
Enterprises with respect to human rights held in Geneva in October 2018.
This intervention was delivered at a historical meeting in which the zero
draft of the proposed UN treaty was presented. This is a legally binding
instrument to regulate, in human rights law, the activities of Transnational
Corporations and other business enterprises.

MIA lobbied against the impact of Transnational Corporations (TNCs), in
their persistent battle to increase profits in the developing world - a world
that holds many attractions for them. These corporations are damaging the
lives of millions of poor people whose natural resources, especially water,
are being ceded to TNCs and governments are often unwilling or unable to
control them.
MIA co-sponsored (at a side event at the United Nations Permanent Forum
on Indigenous issues) an event ‘Violation of Human Rights in the Amazon:
Networks to Respond and Redress Them’. This event highlighted the
threats and violations of mining companies at the expense of indigenous
peoples and also co-hosted a side event entitled ‘Defining the value of
Water from a Rights-Based Perspective’.

Staff also attended a UN event on April 25th at the Permanent Mission of
Ecuador to the United Nations entitled ‘Remedies for Cross-Border Human
Rights Violations: A Status Report on the Binding Treaty on TNCs and other
Business Enterprises’.
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MIA promoted:
• The publication ‘Removing Barriers to Justice:
How a treaty on business and human rights could
improve access to remedy for victims’
• The intervention made by the Permanent
Observer Mission of the Holy See in favour of
Corporate Regulation on TNCs and a UN Binding
Treaty
• An event entitled ‘Defending Human Rights in
Southeast Asia’
• ‘Living the Change’ - a week of sustainability
events with international faith and community
leaders
• Background paper on extractives prepared by the
Sisters of Mercy of the Americas
• A progress report on a ‘Global Compact for the
Environment’
• ‘Water, Women and Wisdom’ a publication
focusing on the gendered impacts of mining
• ‘CIDSE Gender Equality Blog’ on the gendered
impact of mining and extractive industries
• An online course on local water solutions for
global challenges
• The documentary ‘Flow: For the Love of Water’
• ‘The Surfrider’s Rise Above Plastics: Activist and
the Ocean Project’ - a resource prepared by over
100 organisations which seeks to increase action
for and awareness of caring for our oceans
• The advocacy of 13-year old Autumn Peltier, an
Indigenous Canadian water justice activist.
Colleen Cloonan at the United Nations in Geneva attending
the Water and Peace event.
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Education on ecological topics is a central part of
what MIA does. The 2018 actions included:
•
using Water & Sanitation: A People’s Guide to SDG
6 (produced by MIA in 2017)
• highlighting/critiquing SDG 6 in six Mercy Global
Action newsletters
• developing and distributing a four-week miniproject highlighting plastic pollution leading up to
Earth Day
• organising activities for the ‘Season of Creation’ for
the MIA Global Action network, with a particular
emphasis on our campaign against one-use plastic
• developing a 4-week programme ‘Prophetic
Witness’ for the Advent season, challenging people
to live in a manner that promotes environmentally
sustainable lifestyles.

Mercy Experience on the Ground

Global
Action Aims
1. To advocate on behalf of
environmental and human
rights abuses in relation to
water
2. To address climate change
3. To respond to the migrant,
refugee and asylum seekers
crisis
4. To seek to eliminate
factors that provide a means
to pursue the trafficking of
people

2018 was a year when Climate Change was self-evident.
From all around the Mercy world came disturbing
reports of the catastrophic effects of weather events in
the areas in which our members operate:
• in Argentina below-average rainfall for several
months, from late 2017 to April 2018, tipped
Argentina into a severe drought
• in South Africa, Cape Town faced the worst drought
in recorded history
• Australia experienced an exceptional drought,
which had been developing since 2012. Rainfall
levels in the Murray-Darling Basin were among
the lowest on record for the first nine months of the
year, while temperatures were hotter than average
• the low rainfall and highest November - January
temperatures on record in New South Wales
extended the fire season
• it was the hottest summer on record in many
countries in the Northern Hemisphere, including
England and Ireland. In contrast, extremely cold
winter weather enveloped these countries in the
earlier part of the year bringing snow and unusual
sub-zero temperatures
• in California the Camp Fire was the most destructive
in California’s history, and the deadliest in the entire
country for nearly 90 years. Scientists have shown
that human-caused climate change has resulted
in forests in the region becoming hotter and drier,
increasing the frequency of fires
• scorching temperatures and humidity resulted in
the deaths of 70 people in Canada
• changing precipitation patterns in Kenya caused
flooding and the collapse of the Nakuru-Solai Dam causing landslides, the death of at least 132 people

and the displacement of 222,456 others
typhoon Mangkhut, one of the strongest
storms of recent years to hit the Philippines, in
September killed 127 people. Rising sea levels
mean that storm surges from tropical storms,
such as this one, will continue to cause greater
damage
• storms hitting the Northwest Pacific have
increased in frequency and intensity over
the last four decades. In 2018 the North
Atlantic recorded an above average number of
hurricanes. The overall strength of the storms
was also higher than average.
• hurricane Florence brought record rainfall in
the Carolinas when it struck in September.
At least 51 people were killed by the storm.
Hurricane Michael was the strongest storm ever
to hit the Florida Panhandle killing 45 in the US
and at least 13 in Honduras, Nicaragua and El
Salvador
• for much of the summer in New Zealand, the
Tasman Sea was warmer than usual, at some
points by up to 6 degrees Celsius. This increased
snow melt and reduced alpine glaciers.
The UN’s recent alert that the world has at most 12
years to prevent climate catastrophe was a landmark
moment. Never before has the threat of irreversible
damage been so close with growing risks of drought,
floods, extreme heat and poverty for hundreds of
millions of people.
•

MIA effectively used its weekly Mercy ENews to raise
awareness of these situations, to invite support and
to unite the Mercy world in prayer for those affected.
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Priorities to Advance Aim 2
MIA is a member of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change. This
enabled MIA to participate in COP24 which took place in Poland in December.
One of COP24’s main agenda items was the finalisation of the Katowice
Rulebook which defines how the Paris Agreement climate action is to be
implemented and accounted for in decades to come.
In preparation for COP24, MIA gathered facts from those engaged in Mercy
ministries on the impact of climate change on society’s most vulnerable.
Key areas of concern were the importance of listening to the world’s
indigenous voices and the recognition of the interconnection between
the rights of nature and humans. This research led to the following key
advocacy points presented by MIA to government representatives at COP 24:
•
•
•
•
•

•

to ensure human rights-based guidelines for the Paris Agreement and
sustainable ways to adequately finance the provision of these rights
to address the urgency to respond in practical ways to the The
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’ Report (1.5°C IPCC)
to incorporate into the Katowice Rulebook the wisdom, rights, responsibilities
and gendered needs of local peoples, ensuring conservation benefits are just
to encourage ecosystem-based approaches to aid waste reduction and
promote sustainable consumption and production
to oppose the misuse of resources that damage the environment, including
large scale fuel extraction and exploitation of the land and its people. (MIA
supports the actions of the Open-ended Intergovernmental Working Group
who work towards holding corporations accountable for their human rights
abuses under international law)
to ensure human rights to water and sanitation are promoted and attained.

The outcomes of the conference fell short of MIA’s expectations. The final text
of the conference made no mention of human rights. It contained permissive
texts giving wealthier Member States more flexibility regarding their financial
contributions and reporting. Agreements were made to conduct negotiations
on climate finance every two years after 2020 despite widespread support and
recognition of the 1.5° IPCC Report. Russia, Saudi Arabia, United States and
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Kuwait were unwilling to heed the urgency to stay below this temperature
limit. As a result, the final text from COP24 does not ‘welcome’ the 1.5° IPCC
Report but rather welcomes its ‘timely completion’ and invites countries to
make use of the report in subsequent discussions at the UNFCC.
Despite these setbacks there were some positives at COP 24. Member States
did agree to a facilitative working group to scope the experiences of local
communities and indigenous peoples in regard to climate change and their
efforts to respond to it. Additionally, decisions will also be made at COP 25
in Chile regarding the Escazu Agreement: Latin America and the Caribbean’s
first regional environmental treaty, which aims to protect the rights of access
to information, to allow public participation in and access to justice for
environmental matters. These are important steps in the right direction as
human rights and environmental defenders continue to risk their lives across
the world.
Seeds of hope at the conference included the many inspiring showcases
in several country pavilions of ecosystem-based approaches to aid waste
reduction and promote sustainable production and consumption. MIA intends
to use this information in our education programmes on Climate Change and
in our dissemination of information regarding best practice.
The voices of civil society and youth were strong and motivational in both
the conference ministerial plenary sessions and events. They focussed
discussions on ‘people over profit/polluters’ and the urgency to increase
climate change ambition. This has strengthened our interest in networking
with such groups. MIA has become a signatory and supporter of the ‘People’s
Demands for Climate Justice’.

Beyond COP 24
The disappointing outcomes of COP 24 are a reminder of the importance
of continuous lobbying and campaigning for change at both the local and
international level. This will be central to MIA’s future work.

Carmen Rosa rsm at a community tree-planting event in
Peru

Research/Advocacy on Climate Induced Displacement
MGA is represented on a subcommittee of the NGO Committee on migration.
This subcommittee focuses on the issue of Climate Induced Displacement. A
flyer prepared by this subcommittee was made available to the Mercy world
through our communications network.
As members of the NGO Committee on Migration, MIA co-sponsored a side
event at the Commission on the Status of Women in March 2018 entitled
Shouldering the Burden: Rural Women and Climate Induced Displacement.

MIA endorsed the outcomes of the Secretariat of the Pacific Regional
Environment Program (SPREP) which is the regional organisation established
by Governments and Administrations of the Pacific charged with protecting
and managing the environment and natural resources of the Pacific.
MIA endorsed Caritas’ State of the Environment for Oceania Report. This
report, published by Caritas Aotearoa New Zealand on behalf of the region,
tracks five key environmental issues affecting the lives of Oceania’s peoples.
These issues are coastal erosion/sea level rise; food and water; extreme
weather; offshore mining and drilling; and climate finance.
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We are ‘faced not with two separate crises,
one environmental and the other social,
but rather with one

complex crisis

which is both social and environmental.
Strategies for a solution demand an integrated
approach to combating poverty,
restoring dignity to the excluded, and
at the same time protecting nature.’
Pope Francis
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Pope Francis in Laudato Si’ said ‘There has been a tragic rise in the number of migrants seeking to flee from
the growing poverty caused by environmental degradation. Our lack of response to these tragedies point to
the loss of that sense of responsibility for our fellow men and women upon which all civil society is founded.
(Laudato Si’ #25)

Mercy Experience on the Ground
In every part of the Mercy world, commitment to
immigrants is based on our deep belief in the dignity of
each human person created by God, and on our more
than 180 years of ministering to and with immigrants in
schools, hospitals, parishes and social service centres.
Because of its presence in so many countries, MIA
has first-hand experience of the deepening poverty
and violence that force families to flee their homes in
search of economic and physical security. Members on
the ground are involved in several responses to this
crisis including integration programmes into schools
and communities; advocacy for just and humane
immigration reform and campaigns to reunite families
and provide pathways to citizenship.

Members regularly hear the stories of migrants,
especially women, who often experienced gruesome
violence not only in their home countries, but also in
transit. One migrant stated, ‘I now know the dangers
women are exposed to on the migratory route. Young
women pay a high price in rape and kidnappings,’
she said, noting that many migrants are exploited in
organ and sex trafficking. This makes it imperative
that attention be paid to safety of migrants in
transit. Experiences such as ‘Turn Back the Boats’ in
Australia, Migrant Caravans at the Mexican border
or the deadly Mediterranean migrant route into
Europe, demonstrate that issues of orderly and
regular migration need to be prioritised.
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Priorities to Advance Aim 3
The UN Global Compact on Migration

Advocacy and Campaigning

MIA welcomed the opportunity to engage with the
Global Compact on Migration seeing this as an
opportunity to fashion the first ever global response
to migration and to ensure that the rights of all
migrants, especially those in vulnerable positions,
are respected and protected.

MIA representatives made mission visits to various Permanent Missions to the United Nations including
The Philippines, Kiribati, New Zealand, Costa Rica and Colombia. They were advocating for human
rights, vulnerable and marginalised groups, the empowerment of women and girls as agents of change,
protection of children, those affected by climate induced displacement and for zero toleration of
discrimination. These visits were both strategic and vital to highlighting important issues that needed to
be strengthened within the Compact.

MIA representatives attended every intergovernmental
negotiation
and
multi-stakeholder
meeting
(approximately six sessions comprising five days
each) Towards a Global Compact on Safe, Orderly and
Regular Migration. During the consultation phase,
when the Zero Draft was presented, it was obvious
that many of the commitments were ambitious. There
were, at the same time, many specific objectives
that related to Mercy concerns, for example climate
(Objective 2) and trafficking (Objective 10). MIA’s
concern was, that while the Zero Draft successfully
outlined what needs to be done, it did not offer a
how or a why. For example, there was no reference to
the financial implications or to the Global Compact
on Refugees, although many were advocating the
complementarity of the two compacts.
However, Intergovernmental negotiations were
continuing and this gave Mercy Global Action four
months to advance its work on behalf of migrants on
several fronts - through advocacy and campaigning,
networking and education.
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Networking
In addition to Mission Visits, MIA networked with several NGO colleagues on other aspects relating to this
important issue. One of the many noteworthy events was organised by Caritas Internationalis and the
Permanent Observer Mission of the Holy See to the United Nations entitled ‘Faith Leaders Call the World
to Share the Journey of Migrants and Refugees’.
In May, Draft Revision 2 was presented. In this text there was a distinction between refugees and migrants
and clarity regarding documents that can be used for legal identity. It described human rights within
the spectrum of basic services and provisions, and looked at all dimensions of migration, especially
voluntary return and reintegration.
On 19 December, after the Global Forum on Migration and Development, and the migration conferences
in Morocco, the UN General Assembly made history by voting on and endorsing UNGA Draft Resolution
A/73/L.66 regarding the adoption of the ‘Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration’. The
voting results by Member States were 152 in favour, 5 against, 12 abstentions. MIA personnel involved in
this networking were justifiably proud of the contribution MIA’s advocacy made to this outcome.
However the adoption of the Global Compact is only the start and the really hard work of implementation
of the Resolution begins now. MIA, through its members on the ground, intends to continue its work of
advocacy and campaigning to ensure states honour the recommendations of the compact.
To do this, MIA took advantage of such opportunities as World Refugee Day, to promote the UN Secretary
General, Antonio Guterres’, address to the UN which challenged everyone to promote rights and dignity
while rejecting hatred and discrimination.

Emergency Support Aid
While MIA primarily engages in activities aimed at systemic change, it also
financially supports trail blazing activities.
In 2018 it supported Mercy Connect, a migrant project in Australia established
by Mercy Works. Mercy Connect recruits, trains and supports volunteers to
assist migrant students and their families settle in Australia. After training,
volunteers offer guidance to students as they settle into the Australian school
system. They provide support that nurtures well-being and self-esteem and
improves students’ literacy and numeracy skills.

•

•

MIA was represented at the World Council of Churches 4th Annual Symposium
on the Role of Religion and Faith-Based Organisations in International
Affairs. Its theme was ‘Perspectives on Migration: Displacement and
Marginalisation, Inclusion and Justice’
MIA participated in a workshop on migration hosted by the Holy See Mission
to the United Nations entitled ‘Workshop on Migration: For Catholic Inspired
NGOs’.

MIA stands in solidarity with all those who share our concerns and our values
to bring about effective change for good in the Earth Community.
During the World Meeting of Families in Dublin the Global Catholic Climate
Movement promoted an ecological project on the key themes of Laudato Si’.
MIA staff worked in partnership with this group.
MIA has signed on to the People’s Demand for Climate Justice which outlines
demands for government representatives to:

MIA financially supported Concern in responding to the Rohingya Refugee Crisis
and to the famine In Yemen. It also supported the Community Centre at Visitation
(CCV) in Kensington, Pennsylvania, a Mercy supported project committed to
providing a safe place for community outreach, continuous education and
recreation among the diverse cultural communities of Kensington and its
surrounding neighbourhoods.
Image from Mercy Connect Sydney Volunteers https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=V7JjATGdJYQ

1. keep fossil fuels in the ground
2. reject false solutions that displace real, people-first solutions to the
climate crisis
3. advance real solutions that are just, feasible and essential
4. honour climate finance obligations to developing countries
5. end corporate interference in the climate talks
6. ensure developed countries honour their ‘Fair Shares’ for the
contribution they have made and are making to this climate crisis.
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UNICEF estimates that there are 21 million trafficked people around the world. This figure includes some
5.5 million children. Human trafficking is a crime that is gendered; the primary victims are women and girls.
Combating human trafficking has never been more challenging, especially in the midst of the worst migration
crisis since World War II.

Mercy Experience on the Ground
Eradicating human trafficking is a top priority for
our Mercy members in the 40+ countries where we
live and serve. They support trafficked persons;
advocate for victim services and for addressing the
demand for exploitative practices; and educate law
enforcement, community service providers and
the hospitality industry about their critical roles in
reaching victims and punishing perpetrators.
In South Africa, rescued women participate in the
Mercy House programme. These women travel from
Thailand, Lesotho, Swaziland and Zimbabwe to South
Africa seeking a better life or to escape poverty, as they
are desperate to find employment. The Sangomas of
South Africa (traditional healers) use body parts for
their ‘cures’ that necessitates acquiring human organs
for their ‘medicine’. They buy these body parts from
traffickers. A recent development in South Africa is that
more women are being trafficked for pornography, This
and sexual exploitation of victims is very lucrative for
the traffickers, because victims can be re-sold.
Our Members in Kenya report that child trafficking
within Kenya is common among vulnerable children,
who are enticed by adults linked with cartels into
different activities, one example being sex-tourism.
Some children are abducted for a variety of illegal
reasons i.e. adoption, early marriages or drug trafficking.
Other issues contributing to human trafficking are

poverty, unemployment among the youth, orphaned
children and those with disabilities, inequality,
plus social and economic issues. Additionally
some youth are recruited by cross border radical
groups like Al Shabaab, who use young people
as suicide bombers and armed soldiers.
Our Newfoundland members are part of an
extensive network working to prevent human
trafficking and accompanying victims and survivors.
Poverty is a significant root cause The recent
economic downturn left many struggling with
unemployment and debt. This was particularly
true for indigenous people and migrant workers
living away from their communities, rendering
them more vulnerable to being trafficked.
Our members in Australia highlight the lack of
programming to assist people in poverty as a
significant root cause of being exploited.
Government recruitment of migrant workers
from the Pacific Islands and Asian countries for
construction work, farming, mining and fishing, for
low salaries sometimes not paid, underpins labour
exploitation. Overseas students who need to work
to pay for basic needs are sometimes lured towards
‘false jobs’ making them vulnerable to being
trafficked for labour or sexual purposes.

Migrants and refugees in the Americas are particularly susceptible to abuse as
they travel north seeking work or asylum. Victims are most frequently trafficked
for sexual exploitation and forced labour, but trafficking for the purposes of forced
participation in criminal networks, forced organ donations, and illegal adoption
are also prevalent. In Central America, 51 percent of victims are underage
girls, making it the region with the second-highest rate of child trafficking after
Sub-Saharan Africa. Within South America, child trafficking outpaced adult
trafficking in Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru. The number of trafficking victims
in the U.S. is largely unknown. However, thousands of US citizens, including
minors, are estimated to be at risk of human trafficking. 100,000 US children
are commercially sexually exploited every year in the US. Among the responses
that Mercy in the Americas makes is to use the influence of their investment
capacity. Mercy Investment Services actively works with corporations to improve
their policies and identify human trafficking victims within their industries. In
addition to engaging hotels and airlines, Mercy Investment Services reaches out
to trucking companies to join the fight against human trafficking.
In Ireland human trafficking is a growing activity and a major justice issue.
Our members recognise the importance of anti-trafficking training and they
are committed to implementing such training across the country for frontline
professionals working in the areas of health, social work, law-enforcement and
immigration.

Denise Boyle fmdm (MIA) and JP O’Sullivan (MECPATHS) presenting on Human
Trafficking at the Young Mercy Leaders Pilgrimage

The Sisters of Mercy in Ireland established MECPATHS (Mercy Efforts for Child
Protection Against Trafficking with the Hospitality Sector) which collaborates
with the hospitality sector in Ireland to raise awareness of sex trafficking and
to empower hotel management and staff to help combat this crime. Hotel staff
are amongst those professionals likely to encounter a victim of sex trafficking as
traffickers can seek to take advantage of the privacy and anonymity of hotels.

The United Kingdom is a destination country for men, women and children
primarily from Africa, Asia, and Eastern Europe who are subjected to human
trafficking for the purposes of sexual slavery and forced labour, including
domestic servitude. Our members in the United Kingdom run a support service
for women working in prostitution, which in some instances includes trafficked
women.
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Priorities to Advance Aim 4
Capacity building
MIA aims to assist our member advocates and local actors
to incorporate a robust human rights approach into their
work. If an adequate standard of living, quality education,
safety and gender equality were in place for girls and
young women, their vulnerability to trafficking would be
reduced significantly.
MIA challenges the dominant narrative that trafficking is a
single isolated event. While this may be the case in some
instances, for the most part marginalisation, discrimination
and gendered violence are common preconditions for
vulnerability to trafficking. Therefore, trafficking actually
occurs as a result of a process of systemic victimisation
over the life course. Violations of human rights often
occur prior to the experience of trafficking and render
women and girls more vulnerable to exploitation. MIA
has developed an approach that advocates for trafficking
prevention over the entire life course. Utilising a concept
called Optimal Life Course Conditions (OCCC) for girls,
adolescents and young women, these conditions, if in
place, could curtail the trafficking of girls and young
women. There are 14 OLCCs, clustered in three stages.
In childhood, they include adequate standard of living,
quality education, safety and security. In adolescence,
they include psychosexual health and development and
long-term life skills. In young adulthood, they include
decent work and economic empowerment, community
cohesion and personal security. Facilitating these
conditions minimises vulnerability.
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Angela Reed rsm and Colleen Cloonan at the launch of Inherent Dignity

Inherent Dignity
MIA has published a guidebook for use by those opposing trafficking. It is entitled ‘Inherent
Dignity’. It is bourne out of an understanding of human dignity that inextricably links it to the
realisation of human rights. Therefore, approaching trafficking as a violation of human rights not
only requires prosecution of criminals but also demands that survivors have an essential and
active role in the work of prevention.
The focus areas in the human rights approach are the prevention of trafficking, reducing the
vulnerability of women and girls to trafficking, supporting survivors to rebuild their lives, and
empowering women to have more options in the paid work that is available to them.
Inherent Dignity aims at assisting advocates and local actors to incorporate a robust human
rights-based approach in their work to prevent and end human trafficking and to empower rightsholders, help shape policy, and ensure government accountability.
‘Inherent Dignity’ is available in electronic form on the Mercyworld.org website.

Specific Approaches Recommended
A. The importance of listening to the life stories
of survivors.

B. Reporting abuses to the Special
Rapporteur.

Listening to the experiences of women who have
been trafficked is an essential part of developing
grounded and effective policy. One way to
encourage survivors to participate in the protection
and promotion of their human rights is to provide
avenues for them to describe their experiences. In
sharing their stories, trafficked victims can further
their recovery and healing.

The work of Special Rapporteurs is highly
persuasive in the discussion of human
rights. Their reports contribute greatly to the
understanding of human rights and serve as a
‘contributing force to change’ and a platform for
the open discussion of human rights violations.

Enabling women to share their stories is also an
important way for them to exercise their agency and
claim their human rights. This can be integral in the
process of recovery for the survivor and empowers
her to begin asserting rights that she should
rightfully enjoy. As women tell their stories they
reveal extraordinary resilience and determination; at
the same time they expose human rights violations,
highlighting the need for recognition and redress.
Their narratives exemplify the interplay between the
personal story and the wider environment in which
they live.

The Special Rapporteur also intervenes on
behalf of victims. She can send an urgent appeal
which warns the concerned government about
a specific situation and requests it to inform her
about measures taken to guarantee that the
human rights of the persons concerned are fully
respected. She can also transmit concerns and
a summary of information about human rights
violations to governments ‘for clarification,’ and
to request their comments and observations.

Sisters participating in a n event to raise awareness of Human Trafficking in Peru

C. Encouraging governments and other policymakers to recognise and address the root
causes
Encouraging governments and other policy-makers
to address the root causes, some of which are:
poverty; lack of social protection (i.e., healthcare,
education and adequate living conditions); rural
isolation; lack of options for work that is healthy, safe,
dignified and reasonably paid; family breakdown;
discrimination against women and girls; violence physical, mental and sexual; racism, particularly in
‘sex tourism’.
There are areas of need in the various countries in
which Mercy works. For example, some countries
have significant challenges with gender equity but
have a better record in supporting the rule of law and
in the integrity of law enforcement by judges and
officials. Other countries have good labour laws but
poor enforcement practices. MIA supports advocates
in gathering quality research on their specific issues
so that they can effectively lobby their governments.
It is recommended that advocates use the human
rights-based approach, individuals should not be
passive recipients of government programmes but
be actively included in the design, development,
and roll-out of responses, to ensure the quality and
appropriateness of those programmes. Trafficking
survivors are able to provide guidance to policy and
decision makers and other stakeholders who create
anti-trafficking programmes, manage legal cases,
and handle concerns of other survivors.
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Advocacy

Networking

Advocacy is a key element of what we do in regard to trafficking:
• UNODC (United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime) helps
Governments react to the instability and insecurity caused by
crimes like the smuggling of human beings between countries
and continents. It held a Conference of the Parties to the UN
Convention Against Organised Crime (UNTOC) in Vienna in
October where MIA presented a joint oral statement focusing
on the need for a review mechanism of the Palermo Protocol
and the need for human trafficking prevention.
• MIA participated in and advocated with the ‘UN Committee to
Stop Trafficking’ and also with the ‘UN Committee on Migration’.
As a member of the ‘UN NGO Committee on Migration’, we
participated in a side event entitled ‘Countering Xenophobia
and Discrimination: Voices from the Regions’.
• MIA advocated at the Commission on the Status of Women
(CSW) engaging in the numerous activities provided, while
also co-sponsoring, endorsing and presenting at a diverse
range of events including a human rights approach to human
trafficking.

•

Research
•

•
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MIA attended an event organised by the Holy See Mission to
the UN entitled ‘The Santa Marta Group: Police and Religious
Leaders United to Eradicate Human Trafficking’. It brought
police and religious leaders together in partnership to fight the
plague of human trafficking and all forms of modern slavery.
MIA availed of further research opportunities by field visits to
Guyana where the Human Trafficking Safe House co-founded
by the Sisters of Mercy is located and to the Sisters in Tacloban,
the Philippines, to learn from their work in anti-trafficking.

•

In launching ‘Inherent Dignity’, MIA networked with UN Member State Representatives,
Special Rapporteurs on Human Trafficking, Sale of Children, Migration, and Contemporary
Forms of Slavery.
MIA participated in a three-day Western hemispheric meeting on human trafficking in
Cleveland, Ohio, in October. The forum featured a panel of experts who advised on how to
avoid online dangers that can lead to human trafficking. Also featured was the Cleveland
Walk for Freedom. Together with walkers around the globe, the people of Cleveland raise
awareness of human trafficking, showing local government that people want legislation
that protects victims, and stand in solidarity with the men, women, and children still living
under the threat of the world’s fastest growing crime, human trafficking.

Education
•
•
•
•
•

MIA promoted the US Department of State publication: ‘Trafficking in Persons Report 2018’
MIA provided resources in the form of artwork and books to the Permanent Mission of
Belarus to the United Nations during their event ‘Stop Trafficking in Children and Youth: A
Dire need to find sustainable solutions’
MIA staff conducted workshops on human trafficking at the Young Mercy Leaders
Conference.
MIA highlighted the International Day for the Elimination of Sexual Violence in Conflict, 19
June through promotion of the UN Women’s website
MIA co-sponsored a side event on human trafficking with the Permanent Mission of the
Holy See to the United Nations. The event was entitled, ‘Preventing Trafficking among
Rural Women and Girls: Integrating Inherent Dignity into a Human Rights Model’. The panel
consisted of two Sisters of Mercy and a guest speaker from the Philippines.

Human rights
analysis

UN engagement –
New York, Geneva,
Vienna

Theological
reflection

Global
Action
€246,863

Research

Leadership
development and
education

Advocacy

Networking
Hands-on relief
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Emerging Leaders Fellowship
In 2018 funding was secured for a
Mercy Global Action Emerging Leaders
Fellowship for ten participants
annually over three years. This will
provide a transformational experience
for women who are passionate about
advancing Mercy and Justice.
The
international
leadership
programme is fully funded, and
unique in the way it provides an
opportunity for fellows to establish
strong links and networking across
the Mercy world through international
encounters in Siam Reap, Cambodia,
New York and Dublin, webinars and
modules, mentorship and more.

Mercy Global Action Office is both a gift and an opportunity, providing mutual benefits to the women and also to the
advancement of our work at Mercy Global Action.
Women’s positive responses to immersion in the Mercy Global Action office ministry and their valuable contribution to
the ongoing mission of the office are the impetus for developing a fuller and more formal leadership programme in which
women can have the opportunity to share their knowledge and further develop their understandings of Global Justice.
The Mercy Global Action Emerging Leaders Fellowship seeks to build upon the capacities of women and provide effective
tools to be agents of change in their own communities and in the greater society. This involves critical thinking and ethical
discernment, looking at the world through a Mercy lens, and challenging oppressive systems in order to advance justice.

The fellowship programme has
been designed to stimulate creative
and critical thinking, promote
collaborative leadership and personal
reflection leading to a compassionate
and communal response to current
concerns of our world.
At the heart of our Mercy charism
is the education, empowerment,
and encouragement of women. The
contribution of younger women to the
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Angela Reed rsm speaking with Students from the House of Mercy, Erie, PA

Administration
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Administration and Organisation
The administration of MIC involves the preservation, conservation and protection of the building and its artefacts which are of Mercy, historical and inspirational
significance and which afford opportunity for ongoing Mercy mission.
Sound administration ensures the preservation of both the unique
character and heritage of MIC and of the founding community of
Mercy. MIC affords an opportunity for the celebration of community
history and continuing Mercy response to need. In fact, the house
functions as the ‘stage’ from where the history and stories are told
through tours, programmes and the untold numbers of ‘drop-in’
visitors with whom the history is also shared.
The House offers the opportunity to experience the immediacy
of its contents which link to the early women of Mercy who lived
here and it both invites and allures the listener as the stories are
grounded and framed in its very fabric. In this way MIC becomes
the backdrop and creates the atmosphere for supporting the
delivery of the message of Mercy.
The house represents considerable investment of physical,
spiritual, natural and intellectual resources. It behoves us to
make the most of the resource it provides and not to allow it to
deteriorate with consequent cultural, social, religious, historical
and economic costs.
Mercy International Centre consists of a heritage display
room, a chapel, library, conference room, 3 memorial rooms,
accommodation facilities for 15 guests, 10 administrative offices,
a heritage shop, kitchen, dining room and laundry. A feature of
the Centre is the Sacred Garden and cemetery where Catherine
McAuley and some of the early Sisters are buried.
Sisters of Mercy involved in the Young Mercy Leaders Pilgrimage
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Administration and Organisation Aims
1. Attend to the management, administration and upkeep of MIC
2. Promote and model ecological responsibility
3. Have a communications plan to enhance the living, telling and supporting of the work of MIA

Maintenance

Sacred Garden

During the year the following
maintenance was carried out:
• bedroom fittings and furniture
upgrades - carpets, curtains and
painting
• bathroom provision and upgrades:
Two new bathrooms added.
Painting and upgrade of fittings in
all bathrooms on floors 0, 1 and 2
• office provision - space rearranged
and furnished to provide 3
additional offices
• boiler repaired and a flue that
complied with safety regulations
was installed
• emergency roof repairs were
carried out
• the fire panel was upgraded to
meet safety standards
• new
sign-in
panels
were
installed for the recording of staff
attendance and guest occupancy.

A project to develop the Sacred Garden
to mark the Silver Jubilee of the 1994
opening of MIC was commenced in 2018.
This involved:
• the recruitment and appointment of
a Conservation Architect, engineer
and other personnel
• the approval of drawings and
specifications and detail design
for the development of the Sacred
Garden
• the commissioning of a sculpture of
the foundress Catherine McAuley
• the development of plans for
specific areas of the Sacred Garden
– Reflection, Commemoration and
Educational Spaces
• the choice of planting and water
features
• fundraising for the cost of the
development.
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Administration and Organisation Aims
1. Attend to the management, administration and upkeep of MIC
2. Promote and model ecological responsibility
3. Have a communications plan to enhance the living, telling and supporting of the work of MIA
To achieve this in 2018, the priorities were as below and the environmental efforts will be developed into an Environmental Responsibility Policy
To commission a review of the
House Plumbing: with a view
to (i) making the use of water
more efficient, (ii) establishing
a regular maintenance check on
all plumbing fittings and fixtures.
This has been completed and
rainwater harvesting will be a
feature of the upgraded Sacred
Garden.
To investigate green options when
making electrical replacements:
Much research was carried out
regarding ‘green’ options. A
company was engaged to begin
work in early 2019 to replace all
light fittings with LED bulbs. This
is a 3-year project, the end result
of which will be a significant
decrease in the Centre’s power
consumption. This will make a
marked contribution to efforts to
address climate change as well as
reduce costs.
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The practice of providing
drinking
water for
Meetings/
Conferences
to ensure
less
waste was
reviewed.
Care is taken
to recycle
the unused
drinking
water for watering of plants.

To continue to maintain the Green
Waste Programme: The contract
with Panda Waste Management to
dispose of waste appropriately was
renewed and in 2018 the contract
was extended to include glass
recycling.
Heritage Shop Stock: items for
sale, where possible, reflect an
environmental commitment. The
organic cotton, carbon neutral and
fairtrade T-Shirts for sale are an
example of best practice.

To plan for all employees to
complete
an
Environmental
Awareness
Training
Course:
While the training course has not
happened, research has been
done on how best to do this.
Options include on-line training
or face to face seminars. Because
of the nature of the work at Mercy
International Centre and the
various time schedules (as well
as varied staff competency to
engage in the on-line training),
these options are still under
consideration.

Administration and Organisation Aims
1. Attend to the management, administration and upkeep of MIC
2. Promote and model ecological responsibility
3. Have a communications plan to enhance the living, telling and supporting of the work of MIA

To maintain and upgrade MIC Technology
Hardware Upgrades: The Server
and 4 Computers were replaced
during 2018. A new iPad sign-in was
installed at the front desk. This was
done as a means of complying with
the new GDPR regulations. It is an
effective health and safety practice in
accounting for all visitors present in
the house at any time and it has the
facility of recording the number of
visitors to MIC over the year.
A new TV screen was installed in the
Doyle room. The showing of the newly
launched film In God Alone: The Story
of Catherine McAuley needed up-todate technology to present it in its
best light.

Video
Conferencing:
Video
Conferencing has been used in the
delivery of several programmes, e.g.
programmes delivered to groups in
New Zealand and US.
Presenters are also brought in via
Video Conferencing to deliver certain
modules on programmes in the Centre.

Digital Archives: Preservica Cloud
software was purchased for the digital
recording of archives.
Training was undertaken on its use
and MIA is grateful to a number of
volunteers who assist in digitalising
our extensive archival material.

The Mercy to Earth Programme
involved presentations from many
speakers via web conferencing.
The monthly meeting of the ‘under
60s’ is conducted via web conferencing
and the Board has communicated
with various personnel during their
meetings throughout the year.
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To build a new website
The MIA website has a very special significance for
the life of Mercy International Association.
For those unable to visit Mercy International Centre
or attend a programme, event or formal meeting
in person, our digital communication platforms –
the website and Mercy eNews– are an important
introduction to and means for engaging with the
Association.
For Sisters of Mercy, partners-in-Mercy and friends
and family of Mercy across the world, it is the online
presence, information, and interactivity of the
Mercyworld.org web site and the weekly electronic
news service (Mercy eNews) that keeps them
connected with the House, and engaged in the life,
vision and activities supported by the Association.
The new MIA website has been positively received.
It was completed and launched on 24 September,
following ten months of development by the Dublin
based Together Digital team working with the
website manager. Feedback from those who trialled
the site before it went live; from many of the 120
people who attended the launch; from a number
who participated in the launch via the live-streaming
and from other website visitors since, has continued
to assure us that the navigation pathways, clean
lines, clear visual levels and graphic design elements
make the site simple and easy to use by our many
different audiences.
Given the amount of content on the new website,
these comments highlight the intelligent interface
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and usability design which are foundational to the
site. Whereas an average website consists of about
20 pages and 100 assets (photos, videos, pdfs, etc.),
on launch day the new Mercyworld.org had 5,385
pages and 12,343 assets.
In the last six months, almost 1200 additional pages
and just over 1600 assets have been added to the
site. This continued growth of the site reflects its
many roles.
The site:
• helps develop consciousness of the whole – the
Mercy world
• inspires, articulates and supports the MIA Vision
for local implementation
• advertises, encourages, offers enrolment
capacity and payment capacity for the activities

•
•
•

•
•

•
•

and events in the House at MIC
reports on events and programmes at MIC
gathers stories of one country, region, town or
village and informs us all
helps to expand our understanding of who we are
as Mercy Sisters, partners-in-Mercy and Mercy
Networks, living and working in the tradition of
Catherine
respects
local
Community/Congregation/
Institute entities while fostering a connection
with each other as appropriate
helps us to be aware of the concerns in our world
that we can address more effectively together
than separately (displacement of Persons,
degradation of Earth)
provides a platform for effective advocacy
supports the work for Catherine’s canonisation

Website Manager, Anne Walsh outlining the features of the new
website at the launch in September.
•

provides vast numbers of useful educational
resources
The presentation of pre-existing material on the
website has been greatly enhanced through new
graphic design elements and imagery, updated
texts, video, additional interactivity and mapping,
displaying our message in fresh and creative ways,
helping to attract both new audiences to our site
and new users of the material.
Particular enhanced features of the site include the
design and layout of the new MIA Vision Statement;
the interactive tour of the House and Sacred Garden;
the searchable bibliography of published books,
articles and multimedia productions by or about
Sisters of Mercy since 1831; the map of Catherine’s
Dublin and the virtual prayer spaces at the grave,
in the chapel and the canonisation prayer centre.

The Together Digital team with Mary Reynolds rsm and Anne Walsh

In each of these prayer spaces there is a daily flow
of prayer requests which, together with the weekly
MIA prayer intention published in Mercy eNews, are
remembered at Morning Prayer when the MIA staff
and visitors gather in the chapel.
The integration of the redesigned weekly Mercy
eNews within the website means that website visitors
have immediate access to the surrounding wealth
of Mercy material, both newly added and archived
online. The content on the site is both contemporary
as well as a vast repository of historical material
about Sisters of Mercy and Catherine McAuley
- something akin to an online ‘Annals’ of Mercy
International Association over the last 25 years. It is
also an online Mercy archive.
Every issue of Mercy eNews includes accounts
sourced from Mercy Congregations and Institutes of

how the mission is lived out today. These accounts
link through to local Mercy websites or onto the
other pages on Mercyworld.org. Stories are also
sourced from news media and from Mercy writers,
thus expanding the range of material on offer to the
reader. Every effort is made each week to publish on
a broad range of topics from across the Mercy world.
MIA Programmes and Events are advertised as soon
as they are planned and are promoted and reported
on regularly in Mercy eNews and on the website.
The use of Eventbrite to promote MIA programmes
and events globally is a new technique and enables
immediate reservations by website visitors.
MIA Initiatives are featured together in the ‘About’
section of the site, providing an accessible display
of major undertakings by the Association since
its foundation. Mercy Global Presence, which will
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be further developed as the programme led by
the Mercy International Reflection Process (MIRP)
Continuation Group is unfolded, can be accessed in
this section.
In the Mercy eNews, new resources in a variety of
formats on each of the 11 issues identified during
the MIRP process (e.g. water, pollution, refugees
and asylum seekers, homelessness etc) are made
available. This has been ongoing since the MIRP
report announcing the thematic areas and issues
was published. Thus the resourcing that was a
planned feature of the Reflection process continues.
Each week a selection of these and other relevant
resources is added to the online Library.
Significant planning has gone into the development
of the Global Action section, under the two thematic
areas (displacement of Persons and degradation of
Earth). Each of the 11 issues have their own pages
for updates (news), resources and calls to action.
The activity of Mercy Global Action, including the
various Working Groups, and all those members
and colleagues who engaged with the Mercy
International Reflection Process and are continuing
their advocacy and transformative action in these
areas of concern, can be explored in this section of
the website.
The Mercy story and mission are being more
effectively shared through the redevelopment of
the new Mercyworld.org website and Mercy eNews
which came in €40,000 under budget.
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Four Major International Awards for new MIA Website
As this report goes to print, the new website has
been awarded ‘Best in Class: Religion’ and ‘Best in
Class: Charity’ at the prestigious Interactive Media
Awards (IMA). As well, it received significant awards
in the advocacy/non-profit category for the website
and the magazine/blog/newsletter category for
Mercy eNews in the Horizon Interactive Awards,
announced on the same day.

The results and these comments from industry professionals are very significant.
Not only do they tell us that our digital platforms – the website and Mercy eNews - meet the highest
industry standards technically, but, more importantly, they recognise the ministry of our online presence.
They acknowledge what the global Mercy Family values, stands for, witnesses to and shares in our digital
communication to a world ‘so in need of God’s mercy’.

The Best in Class award is the highest honour
bestowed by IMA. It represents the very best in
planning, development and overall professionalism.
In order to win this award level in both categories,
the site had to successfully pass through a
comprehensive judging process, achieving an almost
perfect score overall in each of the judging criteria:
design, content, feature functionality, usability
and standards compliance, an achievement only a
fraction of entries in the IMA program earn each year.
The IMA Judges commented on Mercyworld.org:
‘Simply beautiful design. One of the most appealing
and user-friendly charity sites I’ve ever reviewed. Nice
work!’
‘Everything about this site radiates elegance, grace,
quality and professionalism. A world class website in
all respects.’
‘Beautiful images. Elegant layouts. Easy to navigate.
Easy to read. And... excellent content. An easy Best In
Class.’
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Networking

Connecting 6,000
vowed members, 5,000
associates and half a
million partners
in ministry

Web hosting
and ongoing
maintenance

Communications
€105,362

Resource
development
including 16
publications
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48 weekly
editions of
Mercy eNews

1.5 million
web visitors

Technology upgrades
and video
conferencing
Theological
Reflection

Governance
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Governance
MIA aims at ensuring that its mission is promoted by highly
committed and skilled people at leadership, management and
operational levels.
The MIA Constitution is the organisation’s founding document.
It sets out the Governance Structure in relation to Members and
Board Trustees, detailing their method of appointment, roles and
responsibilities.

Margaret Casey rsm
Congregation of the Sisters of Mercy, Ireland
(Resigned October 2018)

Company Members
The 12 Members of MIA are the Leaders of the Mercy Congregations
and Institutes throughout the world.
Members appoint a Board of Directors to direct and manage the
business of Mercy International Association.
There are a number of powers reserved to the Members
• appointment and removal of the CEO
• appointment and removal of the Board of Trustees
• ratification of appointment of Chair for the MIA Board of
Trustees
• ratification of Strategic Plan and Annual Budget for MIA
• consideration of Financial Statements of MIA at the Annual
General Meeting
• consideration of the Auditor’s Report for MIA at the Annual
General Meeting
• review of the affairs of MIA at the Annual General Meeting
• appointment of Auditors at the Annual General Meeting
• the winding up of MIA.
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Eveline Crotty rsm
Institute of the Sisters of Mercy of Australia &
Papua New Guinea

Elizabeth Davis rsm
Sisters of Mercy of Newfoundland

Katrina Fabish rsm
Nga Whaea Atawhai o Aotearoa Sisters of
Mercy New Zealand

Marian Ladrera rsm
Religious Sisters of Mercy, Philippines

Colette Cronin rsm
The Institute of Our Lady of Mercy, United
Kingdom

Patricia McDermott rsm
Sisters of Mercy of the Americas

Philomena Bowers rsm
Sisters of Mercy of the Union of Great Britain

Marie Louise White
Congregation of the Sisters of Mercy, Ireland
(Appointed October 2018)

Loreto Conroy rsm
Sisters of Mercy North Sydney Congregation

Catherine Reuter rsm
Sisters of Mercy Brisbane Congregation

Mary-Louise Petro rsm
Sisters of Mercy Parramatta Congregation

Aelred Carlin rsm
The Federation of the Sisters of Mercy, United
Kingdom
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Board of Trustees
Trustees are appointed by the MIA Members. As specified by the MIA Constitutions, the Board comprises of up to nine
Trustees1 - five Sisters of Mercy and four others. Employees are not eligible to be Board Directors.

Denise Fox rsm (Chair)

Ron Ashworth (Vice Chair)

Colette Cronin rsm

Sheila Carney rsm

Denise is a member of Nga Whaea
Atawhai o Aotearoa Sisters of Mercy
New Zealand. She brings extensive
experience of the life and activities
of Mercy in New Zealand and is
currently CEO of McAuley Ministries
in Sydney, Australia. She has held
leadership roles in her Congregation
and in education and has extensive
governance experience, having served
as a member of boards of healthcare,
finance, education, communication,
and housing ministries.

Ron is currently serving as Chair of the
US Fundraising Committee for MIA. He
previously served as the President/
CEO of Mercy Health System based in St
Louis, Missouri and also subsequently
served as Chair of the Health System
Board of Directors. He spent the
majority of his professional career
serving in the health care industry
which included approximately ten
years of service as the national health
care director of KPMG.

Colette is Institute Leader of the
Institute of Our Lady of Mercy (GB).
She brings extensive experience of
life and activities of Mercy in Great
Britain. She has served in Leadership
and Governance roles in a variety of
organisations and has experience in
administrative and financial matters.

Sheila is a member of the Sisters of
Mercy of the Americas. She brings
extensive experience of the life and
activities of Mercy in the Americas. She
has led several pilgrimages of Youth
and partners-in-Ministry to MIC and
is very familiar with the priorities and
expectations of these groups.

1. The 2019 AGM will attend to the proposed nominations to fill the Board vacancies.
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Scholasticah Nganda rsm
(resigned 7 May 2018)

Suzanne Ryder rsm (appointed 7 May 2018)

Susan Clarke

Mary Moorhead

Suzanne is a member of the
Congregation of the Sisters of Mercy
(Ireland). She has wide-ranging
experience of Mercy worldwide from
her time in mission in Perú and her
ministry as Justice Coordinator for
the Congregation. Currently, she is
Communications Coordinator for her
Province (Western). She also ministers
as a Spiritual Companion and practices
Centering Prayer.

Susan brings the experience of working
as a lay woman in a Mercy ministry in
England. As well as her skills in school
leadership and management, she
brings the experience of formation
work with staff and students in Mercy
ethos. In this role she has led adults
and young people to programmes run
by MIA.

Born in Tanzania and brought up in
the Lebanon, Mary is Chief Executive
of the Mater Foundation, Dublin
(Fundraising). Trained in marketing,
she has experience in the not-for-profit
sector in England and experience
of NGO work in Africa. Mary has
worked across Africa from Somalia to
Swaziland, Kenya, Tanzania and South
Africa. She brings the experience and
skills acquired in these roles and in
particular her experience and skills in
fundraising.

Margaret Casey rsm
(resigned 2 October 2018)

Kevin Hoy
(resigned 2 October 2018)
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Trustees
It is crucial that the Board continues to
be vibrant and productive in leading
MIA forward. It needs to be able to
draw on an appropriate balance of
skills - gender, competency, qualities,
backgrounds and interests. Therefore,
it regularly re-evaluates the mix
of skills required and when new
appointments are due to be made, it
advises the Members of the desired
skills.
The Board is responsible for the
governance of the Company. Trustees
are expected to act on an informed
basis, in good faith, with due diligence
and care, in the best interests of MIA.
They ensure that the mission of MIA is
safeguarded and carried out and that
the funds of MIA are applied for the
purposes for which they have been
provided. The Trustees are collectively
responsible for the business of MIA
and are the trustees of its assets.
The Board is also responsible for
determining the specific values
and standards for the organisation,
building on the core values. Individual
Directors are expected to show
leadership by promoting these values
and standards.
The Trustees, all of whom are non68

executive, perform their roles on a
voluntary basis. They cannot, under
the
organisation’s
constitution,
receive remuneration for services to
MIA and may only be reimbursed for
incidental expenses claimed, which
for overseas trustees includes travel
and accommodation for seven days of
Board meetings over three weekends
and one day for the AGM.
Trustees’ induction includes an
overview of MIA’s strategic objectives,
the role of the Board and individual
Trustees, MIA’s finances and its funding
model. It also includes guidance
on the Trustees’ duties. Ongoing
development of the Board also takes
place.
The Trustees are initially appointed
for three years. At every AGM of MIA
one-third of the Trustees retire from
office. A retiring Trustee is eligible for
re-appointment. Any Trustee who has
served more than 9 consecutive years
must retire at the AGM following his or
her ninth year in office but is eligible
for re-appointment after not less than
one year following the date of his/her
retirement.
In 2018, there was an overall 80%
Trustee attendance at Board Meetings.

Chairperson Vice-Chair
The Board elects the Chairperson of
the Board from among its number.
The appointment is for one year and at
the end of that year, the Chairperson
can be re-elected for successive
terms. The Chairperson oversees the
orderly operation of the Board and
its interaction with management. The
election of the Chairperson and the
Chairperson’s re-election is ratified by
the Members.
The chair of the Board and the chair
of the Finance Committee maintain
regular contact with management
between meetings in relation to the
affairs of the company. The chair
also keeps the Members updated on
relevant issues.

The Vice-Chairperson is elected by the
Board from among its number for a
one-year term. The Vice-Chairperson
assists the Chairperson and may be
re-elected for successive terms.
Because of the wide geographical
dispersion of the Board, it meets in
Mercy International Centre, Baggot
St. Dublin for six days each year over
three weekends and one week-day for
the AGM.

Secretary
The Trustees appoint the Company
Secretary. They ensure that the person
appointed has the skills necessary to
perform the statutory and legal duties
of the Company Secretary and such
other duties as may be delegated
to the Company Secretary by the
Trustees.
As in previous years the Trustees
reviewed the current practice of the
same person filling the role of CEO
and the role of Company Secretary.
It was decided to continue with this
arrangement.

CEO
The CEO is responsible for the dayto-day management of MIA and for
the implementation of MIA’s long and
short-term plans. The CEO presents a
comprehensive report at each Board
meeting, covering ongoing activities,
financial and administrative affairs,
communication updates and future
planning. At the beginning of each year
management presents to the Board an
implementation plan for the five-year
strategic direction and at year-end
reports on the implementation of the
plan. The CEO acts as a direct liaison
between the Board and management.
The CEO also communicates on
behalf of MIA to employees, other
stakeholders and the public.
Duties and responsibilities delegated
to the CEO include the following:
Strategic
Plan
implementation,
staffing and operations, public
relations, liaison with Board.

Committees
The Board is responsible for overseeing
the work of MIA’s CEO and Management
Team. To function efficiently and
effectively the Board has devised and
agreed on procedures for completing

Finance
business in a productive way.
To do this it has a Finance committee
and a Governance committee, each of
which has written terms of reference
approved by the Board and reviewed
annually.
The committee system allows the
Trustees to make the most effective
use of their time and also allows
appropriate time to be devoted to
considering particular financial and
governance issues.

In 2018 this committee consisted of
three Board Members - Ron Ashworth,
(Chair), Kevin Hoy and Colette
Cronin rsm, as well as the Finance
Administrator Margaret Scroope rsm,
Peter Burnett, Bill Roche and the CEO
Mary Reynolds rsm.
The Committee meets three times
yearly and the Chair keeps regular
contact with the finance personnel
and CEO.

The Governance Committee oversees
all compliance issues in accordance
with the Good Governance Code. It
comprises of two Board Members:
Kevin Hoy and Mary Moorhead and
the CEO, Mary Reynolds.

The Finance Committee reviews the
accounts on a quarterly basis. They
liaise with the investment managers
and oversee the ethical management
of the investments. They monitor
the fundraising projects and ensure
that MIA is in compliance with the
Statement of Guiding Principles for
Fundraising of which MIA is a signatory.
It keeps abreast of Charity Law to
ensure that the financial practices of
MIA are in line with its directives.

This committee met at least once in
2018. It reports to the Board and alerts
it to any actions that need to be taken
to remain fully compliant with the
code. An area of special attention in
2018 was GDPR. MIA is registered as
being fully compliant with the Good
Governance Code.

The committee monitors the employee
Pension Scheme which is managed by
Invesco as well as the Insurance policy
of MIA. In 2018 the Finance Committee
recommended to the Board that
an external Pension Trustee be
appointed. The recommendation was
accepted and IPL Pension Trustees

Governance

were appointed.
MIA has an Internal Financial Control
Policy and an Ethical Investment
Policy in place.

Awards
MIA was very proud to be short listed
for the 2018 Good Governance Awards
in the New Initiatives category. This
was in recognition of the Board’s
work in relation to becoming GDPR
compliant. The Good Governance
award was developed by the
Carmichael Centre with the support
of the Charities Institute Ireland,
Dóchas, Volunteer Ireland, The Wheel,
Davy, Governance-Online.com, Mason
Hayes & Curran and Mazars Ireland.

Conflicts
MIA has a comprehensive Conflict of
Interest and Conflict of Loyalty policy
in place in respect of Board Trustees.
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Executive Leadership Team and Staff

Mary Reynolds rsm
CEO

Margaret Scroope rsm
Leader Administration and Finance

Dublin Staff

Anna Nicholls rsm
Leader Heritage and Spirituality

New York Staff

Angela Reed rsm: Coordinator, MIA: Mercy Global
Avril Tyrell: Facilities Manager
Action at the UN
Emma Horgan: Development Officer
Colleen Cloonan: Leadership Advocacy and
Madeleine Hanlon: Receptionist
Women’s Development
Angela Kane: Secretary
Marian Gardner: Intern
Betty Lacey: Global Action Researcher
Elizabeth O’Sullivan: Housekeeper and Cleaner
Joseph Tomina: Caretaker and Cleaner
Áine Barrins rsm: Programme Support (resigned 28 Feb)
Carita Irwin rsm: Tour Guide/Hospitality (volunteer)
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Denise Boyle fndm
Leader Global Action

Contracted Staff
Anne Walsh: Web Manager and eNews Editor
Margaret Roche: Administration
Bill Roche: Finance support person

Volunteers
MIA is grateful to the many volunteers who
support the work throughout the year.

Remuneration

Inservice Training

MIA decouples Remuneration and Performance. Employees’ wages/salaries
are determined by a review of an employee’s specific job role, the need to
preserve an acceptable level of internal pay equity across employees within the
organisation, and the need to provide a competitive basic salary compared to
other organisations in the marketplace in our sector and location. Employees’
base salary is increased at intervals in line with cost of living increases.

Inservice training is regularly offered to support employees performance. In
2018 training in the following areas was organised:
• GDPR
• Employment Law
• Investment Education
• Health and Safety
• Child Protection
• Fire Safety
• First Aid
• Food Safety
• Manual Handling
• Google Suite
• Life-size Video Conferencing
• SAGE
• Preservica .

There are seven members of staff and the total pay roll for 2018 was €195,330.
This includes PRSI contribution of €30,376. Four members of staff have opted to
join the defined benefit pension scheme managed by INVESCO.
Salary Bands €20,000 - €36,000.

Community Service
MIA is supported by at least three volunteers at any time and these are also
unpaid but bed, board and vouched incidental expenses are provided. In 2018
over 50 volunteers provided 1,000+ hours of volunteer service.
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Risk Management
MIA has established a comprehensive risk management process, which seek to ensure that designated people in the organisation manage and mitigate risks. This
risk management process is an integral part of MIA’s organisational governance system. Risk is regularly and thoroughly assessed at various levels in the organisation
up to Board level. The major risks identified are in relation to any threats to MIA’s Operations, Finances, Reputation and Cyber activity.
The method MIA uses is to examine each identified risk and map how likely it is to occur and how severe its impact would be on MIA’s ability to achieve its operational
objectives if a breech did occur. Risk management is considered at all Board meetings.

The major operational risk is the
tenure of key staff. Senior staff are
seconded from member congregations
for fixed terms. The risk is that on
the occasion of staff changeover,
organisational memory and business
expertise can be lost. To mitigate this
risk, the Board pays major attention
to succession planning, to robust
transition processes and to a schedule
of retirements that ensures that only
one key staff member retires at one
time.
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The financial risks are quite significant.
The income for the running costs of
MIA is derived from Congregational
levies and fundraising.
The risk in relation to Congregational
levies (which was formally the main
funding source of MIA) is that numbers
of Sisters in these congregations are
declining and consequently the ability
of the member congregations to fund
MIA is decreasing.
To mitigate this risk, a fixed sum,
approximately 30% of the original
contribution has been set and
an Endowment Fund has been
established to generate the remaining
70%. This, too, carries risks as income
earned from the Endowment interest
is affected by the global economic
environment, including growth rates

particularly in the US, Europe and
China, the effects of Brexit, Central
Bank Policies and exchange rates.
To mitigate this risk the Board has set
investment objectives with moderate
risk appetite, medium-term time
horizon and a balance between
income and capital growth. There is
an Investment Plan which includes
asset class plans and an investment
timeline, which is kept under constant
review.
To supplement the income MIA engages
in fundraising. The risks relating to
fundraising include: failing to comply
with Charitable Registration Laws, ad
hoc fundraising practices, a small pool
of donors and growing competition
from other Charities. To mitigate
these risks, MIA has committed itself

to comply with the Statement and
Guiding Principles of Fundraising
(Irish Charities Tax Research Ltd).
This document promotes high levels
of accountability and transparency
which, when adhered to, provide
clarity and assurances to donors and
prospective donors.
MIA has also devised a fundraising
strategy, linked to its organisational
implementation plan, which includes
widening the pool of donors. The
recently developed GDPR policies
ensure that the handling and
protection of data related to donors is
compliant with GDPR regulations. In
order to address growing competition,
the newly appointed Development
Officer is exploring expanded ways
of fundraising including direct mail
campaigns.

Information Technology is used
significantly as part of MIA’s mission –
especially in programme work via the
website, in global communication and
in several administrative and financial
applications.
MIA’s risks in relation to cyber security
include damage to its hardware,
software or electronic data, as well as
disruption of the services provided via
the internet.
To mitigate these risks, MIA employs
an IT company to monitor all IT
equipment and activity on an ongoing
basis. This company maintains an
offsite backup service to all MIA
computer files. In 2018 a new firewall
was installed and the virus detection
software was upgraded. All computers
and data are password protected.

MIA policies compliant with GDPR are
adhered to and staff engage annually
in training in this area. MIA holds an
insurance policy that covers theft of,
and damage to, IT hardware.
In 2018 the Board began to discuss the
possibility of buying Cyber Insurance.

Reputational risk can occur for MIA
in a variety of ways, including every
aspect of our work from the services
we provide, employment issues,
the expectation of stakeholders and
donors, compliance with various
legal and other obligations, financial
stewardship and media exposure.

There is a focus on a positive image
and communication through the MIA
website and weekly newsletter and a
professional PR company is engaged
when advice is needed on relating
with the media or when an incident of
public interest is in process.

The Board mitigates these risks by:
frequently renewing adherence to the
good governance code, establishing
and evaluating practice on a wide
range of policies, seeking feedback
and evaluation from stakeholders on
the services provided, providing staff
training, adhering to the principles
of Fundraising and by exercising
strict financial internal controls and
monitoring.
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Endowment Fund
The idea for establishing an MIA Endowment Fund was conceived in 2011.
It began through MIA’s Mission fundraising campaign that took place in
Ireland, Australia, England, New Zealand, and the United States.
A €20 million target was set with the hope that this would yield an annual
sum approximate to what the Congregations formally paid. Beginning
in the calendar year 2019 the levies from the congregations will fall to
400,000€ and investment income from the endowment fund will begin to
be utilised as a major part of the financing of annual operations. In the
calendar year 2021, levies will be further reduced to 200,000€.
Rules for managing the endowment have been developed to help ensure
that the endowment fund will remain intact as it becomes the principal
financing vehicle for MIA operations. These Rules have been approved by
the Irish Revenue Commissioner.
The main fundraising aim for 2018 was to reach the target of 20 million
Euro. Although this was not reached, the target is close to being achieved.
Fundraising activities included a world-wide ‘Good Cup of Tea’ drive
which drew groups of supporters together to share a cup of tea and then
to view the newly released film ‘In God Alone: The Story of Catherine
McAuley’. Other fundraising activities have been organised in a number
of countries and, whilst sometimes the amounts raised are modest, the
works of MIA are promoted through these occasions.
The Board has adopted the ‘Fundraising Code: Statement of Guiding
Principles for Fundraising’. MIA publicly confirms its commitment to
the code in this Annual Report and there is a statement verifying this
commitment on the MIA website. MIA also has a Donor Charter which is
consistent with the Statement of Guiding Principles for Fundraising.
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Phase 2 Fund
The Phase 2 campaign was initiated during the latter part of 2016. It was initiated
because the campaign to create the endowment was designed to replace the
existing financing of MIA operations. The MIA Endowment Fund cannot and is
not sufficient to provide for further increases in capital needs and programme
development.
MIA has operated annually at break-even or most often at a small loss. No
provision has been made for capital needed for future capital and programmatic
needs. The Phase 2 campaign is intended to provide some funding for these
needs and the funding programme is being pursued in Ireland, England and the
United States.
In Ireland and England to date the Phase 2 campaign has yielded pledges and
payments of €1,563,356. €1,000,000 of this amount has been restricted to assist
special projects responding to crisis situations. The remaining donations are for
capital and programmatic needs.
The goal is to meet €9,000,000 in order to complete the campaign.

Decision Making

Strategic Plan

The Board of MIA is responsible for overseeing the proper management of MIA.
It has a collective responsibility for:
• putting in place a clear process of delegation and accountability from the
CEO
• approval of annual budgets and ensuring the adequacy of internal financial
control measures; ensuring effective systems are in place for identifying
and managing risk
• approval of annual reports and audited financial statements
• development of Board Committee structures
• ensuring that appropriate governance arrangements are in place
• ensuring that MIA behaves ethically in accordance with the core values of
the organisation (which values are set by the Board and senior management
to ensure that ethical behaviours permeate all levels of the organisation)
• ensuring that a proper balance is achieved between the respective roles of
Board and management
• setting performance targets, including key financial targets and, in
particular, ratifying and closely monitoring the budget
• defining and promoting the role of MIA in the community by developing
mechanisms for gathering the views of stakeholders and by keeping people
informed in an open, accountable and responsible way.

The Board oversees the production of a strategic plan which is its policy
document setting out the aims of the organisation over the coming 5 years and
which moves it strategically towards the achievement of its mission. 2018 saw
the implementation of a new 5-year Strategic Plan .

Stakeholders
The Board ensures that there is a strategy in place for communicating with
stakeholders – Leaders of Mercy Congregations and Institutes, employees,
donors and the wider community served by MIA.

Lobbying Activity
As required under the Regulation of Lobbying Act 2015, it is the practice at MIA
to log any communications that are judged to be in this category. These are then
included in the Returns and Submissions required by the Act.

75

Investment Philosophy

Ethical Investment Policy

MIA’s investment portfolio has been established to ensure permanent funding
for the heritage house in Baggot Street and for the activities of MIA.

MIA considers its investments in terms of ethical, social and environmental
issues and its funds are managed to provide a reasonable return consistent
with these considerations. The aim is to promote Mercy ethos through
the investment practices and to balance the need for financial return
with the aim of supporting only companies that operate in a manner consistent
with MIA values.

The investment philosophy is to grow MIA investments over the medium term
in a prudent, coherent, ethical and consistent manner. The Fund Managers
(Goodbody) have therefore been instructed to provide MIA with:
• a moderate risk portfolio
• an investment horizon of over five years
• an investment objective of a combination of income and capital growth
• direct investment to be subject to an ethical filter.
Given the need to draw an income from the portfolio and its longer term nature
the focus is on:
• a diversified level of risk
• equities paying sustainable and growing dividends
• bonds with a good risk reward profile
• absolute return funds generating stable return collectively
• property funds.
Most holdings in the portfolio have daily liquidity and all have monthly liquidity
at most. This ensures that assets are readily realisable if required.
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In partnership with the investment managers, and observing the normal rules of
sound financial management, MIA aims to invest in well-managed companies,
with positive records in:
• advancement of women and under-represented populations,
• Board diversity,
• just employment practices and vendor standards,
• effective environmental policies to promote sustainability of life, especially
water,
• protection of human rights,
• promotion of non-violence.
The investment manager has been instructed to avoid directly profiting from,
or providing capital to, products, services or activities that are materially
inconsistent with Mercy values, and/or are in danger of undermining the
credibility and effectiveness of Mercy witness. A range of investment exclusions
is therefore maintained.

Trustees’ Report
Accounting Records

The measures taken by the Trustees to ensure compliance with the requirements of Sections 281 to 285 of Companies Act 2014, with regard to the keeping of accounting records, are the employment of appropriately qualified accounting personnel and the maintenance of a computerised accounting
system. The books of account of the charity are kept at The Mercy International Centre, Lower Baggot St. Dublin 2.

Relevant Audit Information

In the case of each of the persons who are Trustees at the time this report is approved, in accordance with section 332 of Companies Act 2014:
So far as each Trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s statutory auditors are unaware, and
Each Trustee has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Trustee in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s statutory auditors are aware of that information.

Auditors

In accordance with Sections 380 to 385 of the Companies Act 2014, the independent auditor, Robert J. Kidney & Co. have indicated their willingness to
continue in office.
This report was approved by the Board of Trustees on 8 February 2019 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Ron Ashworth					Suzanne Ryder rsm
Director					Director
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Trustees’ Responsibilities Statement
For The Year Ended 31 December 2018
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the
Trustees’ Report and the financial statements in
accordance with Irish law and regulations.
Irish Company law requires the Trustees to prepare
financial statements for each financial year. Under
the law the Trustees have elected to prepare the
financial statements in accordance with Companies
Act 2014 and accounting standards issued by the
Financial Reporting Council, including FRS 102 The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the
UK and Ireland (Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice in Ireland) as modified by the Statement of
Recommended Practice ‘Accounting and Reporting
by Charities’ effective 1 January 2015.
Under company law, the Trustees must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities and financial position of the company as
to the financial year end and of the profit or loss of
the company for the financial year and otherwise
comply with Companies Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees
are required to:
• Select suitable accounting policies and then
apply them consistently;
• Observe the methods and principles of the
Charities SORP;
• Make judgements and accounting estimates that
are reasonable and prudent;
• State whether the financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with applicable
accounting standards, identify those standards,
and note the effect and the reasons for any
materials departure from those standards; and
• Prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the charitable company will
continue in operation.

Ron Ashworth
Director
8 February 2019
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The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that the
company keeps or causes to be kept adequate
accounting records which correctly explain and
record the transactions of the company, enable at
any time the assets liabilities, financial position and
profit or loss of the company to be determined with
reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the
financial statements and Trustees’ report comply
with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the
financial statements to be audited .
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

Suzanne Ryder rsm
Director

Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Members Of Mercy International Association
Opinion

Basis For Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Mercy International Association
for the year ended 31 December 2018 which comprise the Statement of Financial
Activities, Balance Sheet, Statement of Cashflows and notes to the financial
statements. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable Irish Law and Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland as modified by the Statement of Recommended Practice
‘’Accounting and Reporting by Charities’’ effective 1 January 2015.

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on
Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities
under
those
standards
are
further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the
charitable company in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Ireland, including the
Ethical Standard issued by the Irish
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory
Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the
company as at 31 December 2018 and of its net movement in funds for the
financial year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 102 ‘The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’; and as
modified by the Statement of Recommended Practice ‘’Accounting and
Reporting by Charities’’ effective 1 January 2015.
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2014.

Conclusions Relating
to Going Concern
We have nothing to report in respect
of the following matters in relation
to which ISAs (Ireland) require us to
report to you where:
• the Trustees’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or
• the Trustees have not disclosed
in the financial statements any
identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt
about the charitable company’s
ability to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting
for a period of at least twelve
months from the date when
the financial statements are
authorised for issue.
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Other Information
The Trustees are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other than
the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements,
we are required to determine whether there is a
material misstatement in the financial statements or
a material misstatement of the other information. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinions on other matters prescribed
by Companies Act 2014

Responsibilities of
Trustees

In our opinion, based solely on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit,
• we have obtained all the information and explanations which
we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.
• in our opinion the accounting records of the association were
sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and
properly audited.
• the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting
records.
• the information given in the Trustees’ report is consistent with
the financial statements
• the Trustees’ report has been prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2014.

As explained more fully in the
Trustees’ responsibilities statement,
the Trustees are responsible for
the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view, and
otherwise comply with the Companies
Act 2014, and for such internal control
as the Trustees determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Matters on which we are required to
report by exception

In preparing the financial statements,
the Trustees are responsible for
assessing the charitable company’s
ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Trustees either intend to
liquidate the charitable company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Based on the knowledge and understanding of the Company and
its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified material misstatements in the Trustees’ report.
The Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you if,
in our opinion, the disclosures of Trustees’ remuneration and
transactions specified by law are not made. We have nothing to
report this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities

For The Audit Of The Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland)
will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements. As part of an
audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error; design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks; and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Trustees.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustees’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the charity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the charitable company to cease to continue as a going
concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

The purpose of our
audit work and to
whom we owe our
responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the
company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Section 391 of the
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might
state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state
to them in an audit report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company or the company’s
members as a body for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

James Gleeson
For and on behalf of
Robert J. Kidney & Co.
Chartered Accountants and Statutory
Audit Firm
11 Adelaide Road,
Dublin 2
8 February 2019
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Statement Of Financial Activities Incorporating Income and
Expenditure Account For The Year Ended 31 December 2018
NOTE

UNRESTRICTED
FUNDS 2018

RESTRICTED
FUNDS 2018

ENDOWMENT
FUNDS 2018

TOTAL
FUNDS 2018

TOTAL
FUNDS 2017

€

€

€

€

€

INCOME FROM:
Donations and legacies

2

1,095,795

607,925

-

1,703,720

2,013,944

Investments

3

46,972

10,326

390,132

447,430

146,757

Other Income

4

136,434

-

-

136,434

107,226

1,279,201

618,251

390,132

2,287,584

2,267,927

TOTAL INCOME
EXPENDITURE ON:
Charitable Activities

5

961,127

146,530

-

1,107,657

1,023,098

Raising Funds

6

91,973

-

-

91,973

78,682

54,302

-

-

54,302

64,003

83,139

2,083

85,861

172,083

125,824

1,191,541

148,613

85,861

1,426,015

1,291,607

87,660

469,638

304,271

861,569

976,321

(125,473)

(83,528)

(1,168,860)

(1,377,861)

405,577

-

-

3,738,640

3,738,640

14,368,389

(37,813)

386,110

2,874,051

3,222,348

15,750,287

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS
Total Funds Brought Forward

8,888,424

1,251,530

15,341,083

25,481,037

9,730,750

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD

8,850,611

1,637,640

18,215,134

28,703,385

25,481,037

Governance Costs
Other Expenditure

7

TOTAL EXPENDITURE
Net Income before other losses
(Losses)/ Gains on Investment Assets
Endowment Fund – Contributions
Net Movement of Funds

8

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities.
The notes beginning on page 85 form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2018
Note

2018
€

2017
€

Tangible fixed assets

12

5,752,195

5,475,348

Investments

13

22,710,513

19,854,232

28,462,708

25,329,580

5,000

5,000

Fixed Assets

Current assets
Stock
Debtors and prepayments

14

14,872

10,361

Bank and cash

15

254,973

166,878

274,845

182,239

(34,168)

(30,782)

240,677

151,457

28,703,385

25,481,037

18,215,134

15,341,083

Restricted funds

1,637,640

1,251,530

Unrestricted funds

8,850.611

8,888,424

28,703,385

25,481,037

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Trade creditors and accruals

16

Net current assets
Net assets
Charity Funds:
Endowment funds

Total funds

17

These financial statements were approved by the Trustees on 8 February 2019 and signed on their behalf by Ron Ashworth and Suzanne Ryder rsm.
The notes on pages 85 to 94 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
Financial year end 31 December 2018
2018
€

2017
€

3,722,813

15,934,781

(2,856,281)

(15,815,613)

(Increase)/decrease in tangible fixed assets

(331,007)

(72,351)

Dividend interest received

(447,430)

(146,757)

(3,634,718)

(16,034,721)

88,095

(99,940)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year

166,878

266,818

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

254,973

166,878

3,222,348

15,750,287

(4,511)

-

3,386

4,644

447,430

146,757

54,160

41,719

-

(8,626)

Net Cash provided by operating activities

3,722,813

15,934,781

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

88,095

(99,940)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year

166,878

266,818

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

254,973

166,878

Note
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
(Increase) in financial assets

Net cash (used in)/ from investing activities
Changes in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting year

Reconciliation of net incoming / (outgoing) resources to net cashflow from operating activities
Net incoming resources
(Increase) in debtors
(Decrease)/ increase in creditors
Dividend and interest received
Depreciation charges
Accrued expenses/(income)
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018
1.

Accounting Policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently
in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to
the financial statements.
The financial statements have been prepared in Euro.

1.1 General Information
These financial statements comprising the Statement of Financial
Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows and the
related notes constitute the individual financial statements of the
Mercy International Association for the financial year ended 31
December 2018.
Mercy International Association is a Company Limited by
Guarantee and not having a share capital, incorporated in the
Republic of Ireland. The nature of the company’s operations and
its principal activities are set out in the Trustees’ Report.
The financial statements have been presented in Euro which is
also the functional currency of the charity.

1.2 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern
basis, under the historical cost convention and in accordance
with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their
accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1
January 2015) – (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting

Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2014.
Mercy International Association meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS
102. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless
otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy.

1.3 Company status
The charity is a company limited by guarantee. The members of the company Board are the
Trustees named on page 4. In the event of the company being wound up, the liability in respect
of the guarantee is limited to €1 per member of the company.

1.4 Fund Accounting
General funds are unrestricted funds which are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees
in furtherance of the general objectives of the charity and which have not been designated for
other purposes.
Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions
imposed by donors or which have been raised by the charity for particular purposes. The costs
of raising and administering such funds are charged against the specific fund.
Endowments funds represent endowments gifted to the charity. The capital element of the
endowments may not be used and the income generated from the endowment funds may be
solely used in relation to the charity’s activities.

1.5 Income
All income is recognised once the charity has entitlement to the income. It is probable that the
income will be received and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably.
Voluntary income is received by way of grants, donations and gifts and is included in full in the
Statement of Financial Activities. Investment income is included when receivable.
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1.6 Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive
obligation to transfer economic benefits to a third party, it is
probable that a transfer or economic benefits will be required in
settlement and the amount of the obligation can be measured
reliably.
All expenditure is accounted for on an accrual basis. All expenses
including support costs and governance costs are allocated to the
applicable expenditure headings.
Governance costs include those costs associated with meeting
the constitutional and statutory requirements of the charity and
include the audit fees, investment fees, costs of legal advice for
Trustees and costs linked to the strategic management of the
charity including the cost of Trustee meetings.
Fundraising costs are those incurred in seeking voluntary
contributions and do not include the costs of disseminating
information in support of the charitable activities. Support costs
are those incurred directly in support of expenditure on objects
of the company and include project management carried by the
company.
All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

1.7 Going Concern
The Trustees have prepared budgets and cashflows for a period
of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the
financial statements which demonstrate that there is no material
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uncertainty regarding the company’s ability to meet its liabilities as they fall due, and to
continue as a going concern. On this basis the Trustees consider it appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis. Accordingly, these financial statements do not
include any adjustments to the carrying amounts and classification of assets and liabilities
that may arise if the company was unable to continue as a going concern.

1.8 Tangible Fixed Assets and Depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are carried at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets, less
their estimated residual value, over their expected useful life on the following bases:
Fixtures and fittings		
20% Reducing Balance
Office Equipment 		
20% Reducing Balance

1.9 Investments
Investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their
transaction value and subsequently measure at fair value as at the balance sheet date using
closing quoted market price. The Statement of financial activities includes the net gains and
losses arising on revaluations and disposals throughout the year.

1.10 Interest Receivable
Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured
reliably by the Charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the
Bank.

1.11 Taxation
No charge to taxation arises as the company has been granted exemption under Sections
207 and 208 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997. The charity is not registered for VAT and
accordingly, all its expenditure is recorded inclusive of any VAT incurred.

1.12 Debtors

1.16 Contingencies

Trade and other debts are recognised at the settlement amount after any trade
discount offered. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any
trade discounts due.

Contingent liabilities, arising as a result of past events, are not recognised when
it is not probable that there will be an outflow of resources or that the amount
cannot be reliably measured at the reporting date or when the existence will
confirm by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not
wholly within the company’s control. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the
financial statements unless the probability of an outflow of resources is remote.

1.13 Cash at Bank and in Hand
Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments
with a short maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition of
opening of the deposit or similar account.

1.14 Other Creditors
Other credits are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables
are recognised initially at the transaction price and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.15 Liabilities and Provisions
Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the Balance sheet date
as a result of past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will
be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can be estimated
reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Charity anticipates it
will pay to settle the debt or the amounts it has received as advanced payments
for the goods or services it must provide. Provisions are measured at the best
estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the effect
of the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present
value of those amounts, discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised within
interest payable and similar charges.

Contingent assets are not recognised. Contingent assets are disclosed in the
financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

1.17 Financial Instruments
The Charity only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that
qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially
recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their settlement
value with the exception of bank loans which are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.18 Foreign Currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into euros at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactions in
foreign currencies are translated into euros at the rate ruling on the date of the
transaction.
Exchanges in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of financial
activities incorporating the income and expenditure account.

1.19 Pension
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme and the pension
charge represents the amounts payable by the company to the fund in respect
of the year.
87

2. Income From Donations And Legacies

3.

Unrestricted
funds 2018
€

Restricted
funds 2018
€

Total
funds 2018
€

Total
funds 2017
€

40,643

607,925

648,568

1,196,413

Mercy
Congregation’s
Support

951,279

-

951,279

724,749

Formation
Programmes

103,873

-

103,873

92,782

Total

1,095,795

607,925

1,703,720

2,013,944

2017

828,833

1,185,111

2,013,944

Donations

88

Investment Income

Dividend
and
interest
income

Unrestricted
funds 2018
€

Restricted
funds 2018
€

Endowment
funds 2018
€

Total
funds 2018
€

Total
funds 2017
€

46,972

10,326

390,132

447,430

146,757

4. Other Income

Summary of Income Sources
Total
funds 2018
€

Total
funds 2017
€

Pilgrimage and
Tours

13,423

-

13,423

11,050

Hospitality Income

96,071

-

96,071

70,490

Heritage Shop
Income
Refund and
Interest Received
Total

2017

25,907

-

25,907

22,202

1,033

-

1,033

3,484

136,434

-

136,434

107,226

107,226

-
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nat
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Restricted
funds 2018
€
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Unrestricted
funds 2018
€

P

ro

gr

am

D

ivid

end

m

es

/In

ter

est

t

or

p
up

107,226
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6. Costs On Generating Voluntary Income

5. Charitable Activities (Expenditure)

Basis of
Allocation

Charitable
Activities
€

Raising
Funds
€

Total
2018
€

Total
2017
€

Postage. Office
Equipment and
Stationery

Staff allocation

13,872

3,468

17,340

21,855

197,777

Premises

Staff allocation

104,081

5,478

109,559 136,773

105,362

126,508

Support Expenses

Staff allocation

175,606

83,027

258,633 210,850

6,530

300,089

369,478

Total

293,559

91,973

385,532 369,478

146,530

1,107,657

1,023,098
2017

290,796

78,682

369,478

Unrestricted
funds 2018
€

Restricted
funds 2018
€

Total
funds 2018
€

Total
funds 2017
€

Heritage,
Spirituality
and Ethos

365,343

90,000

455,343

329,334

Global Action

196,863

50,000

246,863

Communications

105,362

-

293,559
961,127

Note

Support Costs
Total

2017

6

1,023,098

-

1,023,098

Expenditures on charitable activities can be analysed as shown above. Many of
these programmes achieve results in more than one of these categories but are
analysed for these purposes under the principal category.
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Cost of generating voluntary income represents fundraising costs to both
restricted and unrestricted income. This is analysed as follows:

7. Other Expenditure

Auditors' remuneration
Investment Management Fees
Depreciation
Total

Summary of Expenditure
2018
€

2017
€

8,610

8,610

109,313

75,495

54,160

41,719

172,083

125,824

8. Endowment funds - contributions

Endowment Contributions

Ch

ar

Go

ver

Rais
ing

na

ita

ble

A

nc

cti

vit

e

ies

Fund

s

Administration

2018
€

2017
€

3,738,640

14,368,389

The endowment fund represents restricted donations and
bequests relating to the long term funding of Mercy International
Association. The capital element of the fund may not be used and
the income is limited to the operation of the Charity’s activities.
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9. Analysis of expenditure by expenditure type

11. Staff costs

Depreciation
2018
€

Other Costs
2018
€

Total
2018
€

Total
2017
€

Expenditure on programmes

-

1,107,657

1,107,657

1,023,098

Costs of generating
voluntary income

-

91,973

91,973

78,682

Other expenditure/
governance costs

54,160

62,912

117,072

189,827

Total

54,160

1,262,542

1,316,702

1,291,607

2017

41,719

1,249,887

1,291,606

10. Net income resources/ (resources expended)
This is stated after charging:

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets:
-owned by the charity
Auditors remuneration
Total

The Board of Trustees did not receive any remuneration.
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Total
2018
€

Total
2017
€

54,160

41,719

8,610

8,610

62,770

50,329

The aggregated payroll costs incurred during the financial year
were:

Salaries

Total
2018
€

Total
2017
€

195,330

159,332

There are no employees earning over €60,000 per annum.
Key management includes the CEO, two of the Leadership Team
who are Sisters of Mercy and a third team member who is a
Franciscan Sister. They do not receive a salary but their religious
communities receive a contribution.

12. Tangible Fixed Assets

13. Investments
Market Value

Freehold Property
€

Fixtures,
Fittings and
Equipment
€

Total
€

5,308,473

824,343

6,132,816

-

331,007

331,007

5,308,473

1,155,350

6,463,823

At January 2018

-

657,468

657,468

Charge for the year

-

54,160

54,160

At 31 December 2018

-

711,628

711,628

At January 2018
Additions
At 31 December 2018
Depreciation

2018
€

2017
€

19,854,232

4,038,619

Additions

4,296,565

15,644,722

Disposals

(400,230)

(166,708)

Fair value adjustments

(1,040,054)

337,599

At 31 December 2018

22,710,513

19,854,232

2018
€

2017
€

14,872

10,361

14,872

10,361

2018
€

2017
€

254,973

166,878

254,973

166,878

At 1 January 2018

14. Debtors and Prepayments

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2018

5,308,473

443,722

5,752,195

At 31 December 2017

5,308,473

166,875

5,475,348

The building at 64A, Lower Baggot Street was gifted as a reserved gift to the
company by the Sisters of Mercy, Lower Baggot Street, Dublin. The estimated
value of the gift in 1993 was €1,904,610. In the event of the cessation of use by
the company of the premises, a decision of the company to withdraw from the
premises or the winding up of the company the property shall be reconveyed to
a company of the Congregation of the Sisters of Mercy, or its successors.

Prepayments

15. Bank And Cash

Bank and Cash
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16. Creditors: Amounts
Falling Due Within 1 Year

17. Statement Of Funds

2018
€

2017
€

9,036

4,644

Other Accruals

10,091

26,138

Deferred income

15,041

-

34,168

30,782

PAYE control account

Balance at
1 Jan 2018
€

Income
€

Expenditure
€

Unrestricted funds

8,888,424

1,279,201

(1,191,541)

(125,473)

-

8,850,611

Restricted funds

1,251,530

618,251

(148,613)

(83,528)

-

1,637,640

Endowment funds

15,341,083

390,132

(85,861)

(1,168,860)

3,738,640

18,215,134

Total of funds

25,481,037

2,287,584

(1,426,015)

(1,377,861)

3,738,640

28,703,385

18. Legal Status Of Company

19. Related Party Transactions

The company is limited by guarantee and does not
have a share capital. Every member of the company
undertakes to contribute to the assets of the
company in the event of same being wound up while
a member, or within one year after ceasing to be a
member, for payment of the debts and liabilities
of the company contracted before ceasing to be a
member and of the costs, charges and expenses of
winding up and for the adjustment of the rights of
the contributions among themselves, such amount
as may be required not exceeding €1. At the year end
there were eight members.

During the year the charity incurred legal fees of €24,297 (2017:
€28,501) to Mason Hayes and Curran. Mr. Kevin Hoy is a partner
in that firm. The services were provided on an arm’s length basis.

The company is prohibited by its constitution from
distributing any of its reserves by way of a dividend
or otherwise to its members.
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20. Post Balance Sheet Events
There were no significant events affecting the company since the
year end.

21. Approval Of Financial Statements
The Trustees approved the Financial Statements for issue on 8
February 2019

Gains/
Balance at
Contribution
(losses)
31 Dec 2018
€
€
€

What we are next to do I know not.
We are waiting on Divine Providence,
but we fully trust that he to whom
every heart lies open will not abandon us,
but will in his own good time, send help.
We do not fear.
Ursula Frayne leader of the first Sisters of Mercy to Australia
in a letter to Bishop Joseph Serra, 1856.
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Future Directions
A new MIA Vision, developed by the Members
and Board throughout 2018, will be launched in
February and will be presented in several languages,
honouring Mercy’s presence in five continents of the
world - Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe and Oceania.
The annual implementation plan for the MIA
Strategic Plan (2018- 2023) will detail how the vision
will be actioned in all of MIA’s activities in 2019.
Arising from the Mercy International Reflection
Process (2017), Mercy Global Presence has become a
major focus of the MIA vision. Commencing in March
2019, a reflection process with a variety of resources
to support it will be offered through Mercy eNews to
all who wish to deepen their understanding of and
participation in this evolving reality.

In September, there will be a three day event
celebrating the 25th Jubilee of the opening of Mercy
International Centre as a place of pilgrimage for all in
the Mercy world. The events of these days will include
the Mercy Day celebrations, the rededication of the
Sacred Garden and a heritage display honouring
the 25 years. In addition, there will be keynote talks,
workshops, and rituals.
A project of the Jubilee Year is the upgrading
of the Sacred Garden. The garden will feature a
commissioned sculpture of Catherine, inviting
people to ‘Come, sit awhile’ on a shared bench with
her and take some time for quiet reflection. Other
highlights will be a remembrance space where
deceased loved ones can be remembered and a
learning space which will be used in the various
pilgrimage and formation programmes offered at
the Centre.
In March the Mercy Global Action office will transfer
from Dublin to New York.
The vision underpinning this transfer is that a
consolidated office in New York will facilitate MIA
in positioning itself as a change maker for global

96

justice, not only at the United Nations, but through
its work in local communities, nations and regions
throughout the world. Linking the local and the
global, it will seek to engage with root causes of
identified issues through theological, ethical, social,
political, economic, gendered and human rights
analysis.
This combination of local hands-on engagement
and analysis of global root causes places Mercy
in a critical position to advocate and influence
policy makers and governments at national and
international level and to ‘harness the energy
that was created world-wide’ through the Mercy
International Reflection Process (MIRP).
MIA Global Action will, through its work and in
collaboration with the efforts of the entire Mercy
family, strive for ‘the globalization of compassion
and the recognition of God’s mercy as present and
active in our world’. (Vision Statement)
A Strategic Plan to achieve this is being prepared by
the MIA Global Action team.

A Mercy Global Action one-year programme, aimed
at providing a transformational experience for
women (lay and religious) who are passionate for
advancing Mercy and Justice, will begin in August.
It is a fellowship programme aimed at extending
Mercy Women’s sphere of influence. It will provide
an opportunity for fellows to establish strong links
and networking across the Mercy world through
international encounters, webinars and modules,
mentorship and more. The programme has
been designed to stimulate creative and critical
thinking, promote collaborative leadership and
personal reflection, leading to a compassionate and
communal response to current worldwide concerns.
The programme will be directed from our MIA Global
Action Office in New York.

Association is ready for new energy and enthusiasm
from the leadership of those who will take it on the
next stage of the journey.
Good governance will continue to be a priority and
a major focus in 2019 will be on the Charities Good
Governance Code, ensuring that Mercy International
Association achieves its charitable objectives with
integrity and is managed in an effective, efficient,
accountable and transparent way.

A number of changes will occur at the leadership
level. A new chair will be appointed to the Board
in May and a new CEO will be recruited to take up
the role in 2020.Given the new vision set by MIA, the
financial stability that has been established and the
significant growth milestone of the 25th anniversary
of the opening of Mercy International Centre, the
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Read about the production of ‘In God
Alone: the Story of Catherine McAuley’, a
23-minute docu-drama that tells the life
of Catherine McAuley. The film details her
generous response to those in need that
led to the establishment of the House of
Mercy in 1827, now Mercy International
Centre, and the Sisters of Mercy in 1831.
Read more on page 24.

Launched in 2018, read about and visit
our award winning new website, a place
of inspiration and connection for all those
throughout the world wanting to connect
with Mercy. See page 58 or visit www.
mercyworld.org.

The Mercy International Association Vision,
was revised in 2018 (see page 12) and
gathers the energies of all those in our Mercy
World toward the creation of a Mercy Global
Presence. The Vision keeps alive the founding
spirit of Catherine among people of the world
most in need of God’s compassion and Mercy.

Mercy International Association’s future
funding will depend increasingly on
fundraising. We are grateful for the support
from throughout the world that has enabled
the establishment of an Endowment Fund,
which will yield its first income in 2019. Read
more on page 74.

The publication of Inherent Dignity, a
guidebook for those working against human
trafficking was another highlight for MIA
for 2018. The resource is bourne out of
an understanding of human dignity that
inextricably links it to the realisation of
human rights. Read more on page 91.

